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We strive to be the best 

telecommunications provider in 

Africa. To provide customers with 

telecommunication services that 

speaks of quality and affordability. 

We fulfi ll and stimulate communication 

needs through continuous, innovative 

thinking and excellent service to our 

customers wherever they are.
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I have the honour to submit the Annual Report and Financial 

Results for the year ended 30 September 2011, approved by the 

Board of Directors on 5 December 2011.

Whereas 2010 was marked by severe turbulence on a global 

scale resulting from the international fi nancial sector, the year 

2011 remained highly uncertain in the European zone.

Nevertheless, the Namibian economy has moved at an 

interesting pace. It is clear that there was an increase in people’s 

disposable income, and that positively affected MTC’s corporate 

business directly and indirectly.

Another positive contribution was the strong exchange rate to 

the US dollar. Some of the work in progress projects was paid 

in advance, especially the schedule of payments to the joint 

venture of the undersea cable, WACS, which was paid in US$.

MTC’s strategy of maintaining fl exibility was under pressure from 

the regulatory environment but despite the obvious weakness 

from the second mobile operator we never let up, due to the 

demand from our customers in voice, SMS and especially in data 

(internet) access.

We have witnessed many products and services that were made 

available through wireless telephony. You will agree with me that 

mobile technology went from merely calling and receiving calls to 

sending short text messages, sending pictures, receiving emails 

and accessing the internet all from your handset. Tablet devices 

and handsets are now replacing everything we used to do on our 

computers. This has made our lives considerably easier and those 

of us who were resistant to change had no choice but to adapt 

and make use of this incredible new service offering.

When people adopt the new technology because they realise 

that it can improve their lives, only then do we know it was 

successful. I would like to congratulate the entire MTC team, 

through its Management that communicated the needs of 

customers to the Board of Directors clearly, enabling them to 

make the correct decisions. The MTC Board is committed to 

maintain this strong focus.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the Board of Directors, 

representing this partnership between the Namibian 

Government and Portugal Telecom that is an indelible 

contribution to the long-term success of MTC.
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The year 2011, as we predicted in 2010, showed real maturity 

in the voice business. Although voice usage still increased 

substantially as a result of the drop in price per minutes in a 

competitive environment, revenues slightly dropped by 1%.

Penetration in Namibia has now passed 108% consisting 

of 1,854,700 active MTC customers (active sim card that 

made any communication even that was chargeable in the 

past three months) and an additional 435,000 for the other 

Mobile Operators.

Despite the mentioned slight decrease in voice call revenues, 

SMS and mainly data usage (mobile internet access) grew by 

services. Message usage increased by 24% during the reviewed 

12 months, where the average MTC customer sent more than 

400 messages per month. We believe this is the highest-level 

usage in Africa resulting from the free SMSs in several post and 

prepaid packages. Data usage, result of the strong demand 

of Internet access doubled usage during the year ended 30 

September of 2011.

Data is gaining more momentum as a result of the investment 

in an advanced network and the commercial activities around 

our NetMan product that enhanced our focus since June 2010. 

Sept-11

109%

Sept-06

28%

Sept-07

39%

Sept-08

59%

Sept-09

76%

Sept-10

93%

Sept-09 Sept-10 Sept-11

Voice Calls

N$ Billion

Billion Minutes

Sept-09 Sept-10 Sept-11

SMS

N$ Million

Billion SMS

Sept-09 Sept-10 Sept-11

Data

N$ Million

Billion MB
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More than 80,000 customers accessed the Internet through a 

PC or tablets and over 470,000 via their mobile phones, giving 

us close to 550,000 users accessing Mobile Internet from 

various platforms.

the “glide path” decided by the Namibia Communications 

Commission in January 2009. The rate is now N$ 0.30, which is 

third lowest in the SADC Region after Mauritius and Seychelles.

All in all, performance was solid in 2011 with total revenue 

growing 3.2% at N$ 1,454.7 million (N$ 1,409 million last year), 

and an EBITDA level of N$ 774,1 million, down 1.5% from last 

year (N$ 785,8 million).

The Market

The penetration rate of over 108%, according to our estimates, 

points to the fact that our subscribers regularly use multiple SIM 

cards or because they use more than one cellphone (private 

and business) or use it on different platforms; i.e. cellphone, 

laptop and tablets. This ultimately generates multiple usages of 

our services, which are very important. 

MTC has also developed reliable and affordable mobile 

include HomeZone and NetMan Home, as well as SME’s 

and Internet. 

Our commercial price strategy to the prepaid segment included 

the introduction of T49 with 38c per minute, adding to the 

range of the prepaid products together with Aweh-Aweh and 

others. BlackBerry® Smartphone solutions for postpaid and 

prepaid were both introduced during the course of the year. 

These active actions, amongst others, contributed to MTC 

maintaining its market share.

Finally highlighting the competition, according to its press 

release of June 2011, our international competitor Orascom, 

owner of Powercom (Pty) Limited, operating under LeoTM, has 

The Regulatory Environment

The new Telecommunication Act, 2009 commenced in May 

2011 with the introduction of the new Commission Regulatory 

Authority of Namibia (CRAN). MTC applauds the new Act and 

beliefs that CRAN will act in the best interest of the industry.

However, before the transition period, MTC assisted and tried 

to defend our position on some changes introduced by the 

former authority, the NCC.

In a nutshell, after the completion of the mentioned glide path 

of Mobile Termination Rates - the rate that a mobile operator 

charges to terminate a call in its network originated in other 

network - the NCC presented new challenges concerning the 

rates that operators charge to its customers.

This decisive retail intervention was a price cap for off-net call 

prices at the same level as on-net prices, and this applied to voice 

messages, then the operator needed to zero-rate off-net as well, 

despite the need to pay a termination rates to the other operator.
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THE MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

MTC believes that the NCC did not follow the proper 

procedures to intervene in retail prices, and even if it 

had taken the proper procedures, the decision taken is 

unprecedented in the industry, and ended up hurting 

competitors, and possibly future consumers. In reality it 

was three months after the intervention that the mentioned 

International competitor sold the company to the creditors 

with the liability (according to the mentioned press release). 

Nevertheless, Namibia has now one of the tightest price 

regulations in the world.

The second aspect that affected MTC regarding regulation 

is the authorization of base stations. After a lengthy period 

of public consultations and moratoriums, MTC was not 

able to develop the direly needed new base stations in the 

capital. MTC used an international entity to conduct a test 

MTC’s base stations was, and also appointed a renowned 

The result was that the radiation in the worst-case scenario 

Communication of Non-Ionising Radiation Protection 

(ICNIRP), an organization belonging to the World Health 

Organization (WHO). We will continue to maintain our 

efforts in order to sensitize the public and the authorities 

of what we did and also the need of developing additional 

base stations.

Strategic Posturing

Our strategy’s focus is always on retaining current 

customers and being proactive in acquiring new ones. 

Data is an additional focus and we have therefore invested 

tremendously in network capability and international 

Internet connectivity.

During the year in review, MTC completed a public real 

trial of 4G-LTE (Long Term Evolution) technology, the 

second in Africa, with speeds 10 times faster than current 

3G technology. 

4G is a multi-band spectrum technology, which means it allows 

different bands of frequency; depending on what area we will 

deploy it in. As a result, this technology can be deployed in rural 

as well as urban areas; using lower frequencies with a bigger 

radius in rural, covering long distances, and higher frequencies 

that will have lower radius, minimizing interferences in urban. 

3G utiliz es a single-band spectrum with a high frequency over 

a smaller area limiting its reach, therefore it’s only possible to 

be used in urban areas. 

MTC also invested US$ 15 million towards the WACS 

(West African Cable System) submarine cable, connecting 

Namibia to Europe, not to mention the vast investment 

efforts to transit that submarine cable from the coast to all 

areas of the country. For this, an agreement was reached to 

and protection of the asset.

These investments in infrastructure means that MTC is 

not only leading in introducing 4G-LTE technology, but is 

also developing advanced solutions that will revolutionize 

are positive that it will be awarded as soon as the new Act 

is completely in place.

Parting Thoughts

MTC believes in ensuring our staff remain customer focussed 

at all times. This is a daily challenge across all customer 

interactions with us. From the Call Centre, MobileHome 

stores, Key Accounts, to our switchboard, website, e-mails 

from us.

Having the most advanced technologies will not mean 

choose MTC as their preferred network. In this regard, we 

need to stay focussed on our customers needs and use 

our advanced technology to make their lives better. By 

constructing these two pillars well, we will continue to be 

leading telecommunications entity in Namibia.
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MTC operates in one of the fastest 
and most advanced technological 
industries, with endless opportunities for 
improvement. 

Rapid changes in the business environment, coupled with 

constant technological advancements (4G/LTE/Internet/Fibre) 

and increasing arrays of products and services, as well as ever-

growing customer demands requires MTC to stay abreast of 

these developments, always at a reasonable cost. 

The year under review again saw MTC investing huge focus, 

efforts and capital into different areas of the business to ensure 

that our customers are provided with ongoing high quality 

connection to the MTC network throughout the country.

The following list shows areas that were addressed during the 

year under review:

cable project.

access to NamPower’s dark fi bres for the deployment of 

MTC’s 40 GB National DWDM fi bre backbone.

GB DWDM fi bre backbone network, that will allow MTC to 

connect WACS capacity from Swakopmund (at the coast) to 

the capital, Windhoek, as well as further extension of the fi bre 

backbone to Oshakati in the northern parts of Namibia and 

to the South African border.

that will play a key role in transporting bandwidth in the city 

and also carrying the by-pass traffi c from the coast to the 

north and to the South African border.

reduce lease line OPEX cost, increase availability and allow 

auto provisioning of required capacity.

coverage sites throughout Namibia.

containers to optimise power consumptions.

with licenses for 2,2 million customers.

and SGSN.

and billing options on postpaid made available for service.

and USSD.

not renewed.

solution for our corporate environment.

automation. 

 

What Else? 

The future is always built from the past and present. Permanent 

monitoring of availability and Quality of Service (QoS) (Drop Call 

Rate, Call Setup Rate, Benchmark campaigns) with actions at all 

levels from the entire technical team assures customer service 

levels according to the world’s best telecommunication practices. 

TECHNOLOGY
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The primary responsibility of the Corporate Affairs Department 

is to build and maintain relationships with MTC’s various 

stakeholders and to play the custodian role of projecting MTC 

as a socially responsible company that increasingly works 

towards the national development objectives, corporate social 

responsibility and business stimulation through innovation.

The primary objective of the division during the past year has 

been to position the MTC brand as a caring and responsible 

corporate citizen, working in the interest of Namibia and 

her people, particularly as far as technological investment is 

concerned.

This was done through media relations, stakeholder engagement, 

internal communication, sponsorships and events management.

MTC has become synonymous with corporate social investment, 

interweaving itself into the fabric of the Namibian society. MTC 

has consistently led the pack as the key catalyst for the creation 

of social impacts in society. Thus, social investment has become 

a culture and a way of life for MTC, its various stakeholders and 

the Namibian nation at large.

MTC’s social investment totals one per cent of the company’s 

revenue per annum and is deliberately geared to benefi t the 

greater number of Namibians, as well as the environment.

By far the largest benefactor of sports in Namibia, MTC has this 

year spent N$17,5 million on football, rugby, cricket and golf. 

These sponsorships were viewed by MTC as the company’s 

responsibility to improve administrative and athletic capacity. 

Through these sponsorships MTC has assisted with the creation 

of direct and indirect employment through wages for coaches, 

players and administrators. By enabling sports to be played at 

various venues around the country, additional income is also 

generated by the small traders who sell refreshments before, 

during and after these local competitions.

Over and above the ‘normal’ sponsorships to the four codes, 

MTC went the extra mile and exemplifi ed its commitment 

towards sport when they sponsored the amount of N$ 1,6 million 

to the Namibia Rugby Union to enable the National Rugby Team 

to participate in the 2011 World Cup in New Zealand. Without 

MTC’s fi nancial support, Namibia would have been denied 

representation at the 2011 Rugby World Cup.

MTC also headlined as the main sponsor of the MTC/Namibia 

Sports Commission Annual Sports Awards which served as a 

perfect platform to conclude a sporting season where national 

and international sports achievements are celebrated. 

Apart from sports sponsorships, MTC played a major role in 

contributing to road safety through its support to the Motor 

campaign. During the period under review, MTC ‘adopted’ 

the Swakopmund and Luiperdsvallei roadblocks, providing 

an assortment of equipment to the two roadblocks. Total 

contributions for this road safety effort totalled N$ 100, 000.

MTC also sponsored the Namibian Coastal Conservation and 

Management (NACOMA) Project of the Ministry of Environment 

and Tourism to equip wildlife wardens with the necessary tools 

to police the coastline during the festive season. The object of 

this exercise is to prevent extensive damage to the fragile coastal 

ecology through improved monitoring of the holiday makers’ 

activities.

As a responsible corporate citizen who has a special regard for the 

growth of small and medium entrepreneurs, MTC spent in excess 

N$2 million in sponsorships to various trade shows, expositions 

and trade fairs. The most notable of these was the Ongwediva 

Annual Trade Fair which has grown in leaps and bounds due to 

MTC’s unwavering support as the lead sponsor. The other shows 

which also received fi nancial support from MTC during the year 

under consideration are: Caprivi Trade Fair, Eenhana Trade 

Fair, Grootfontein Show, Otjiwarongo Show, Stampriet Show, 

Copper Festival, Rehoboth Show and Erongo Expo. 

MTC also extended its reach to mobile health initiatives and 

the protection of wildlife. On the mobile health front, MTC 

THE CORPORATE SOCIAL INVESTMENT 
PROGRAMME 
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for International Development (USAID) to develop the Electronic 

Dispensing Tool (EDT) and National Database of Anti-Retroviral 

Treatment (ART) information data. 

The EDT is an electronic pharmacy tool which enables pharmacy 

staff at facility level to manage patients, plan follow-ups, monitor 

Strengthening ART stock management ensures continuous 

interruptions. 

The EDT is also used in patient management, thus improving 

resistance. The EDT is also used in scheduling appointments, 

monitoring facility workloads and monitoring adherence to ART. 

The National Database serves as a query tool for national statistics 

on ART, including patient information from across Namibia. This 

database is an essential tool aimed at enhancing not only access, 

but also providing reliable data on the effectiveness of ART in 

Namibia including: 

In addition to the EDT project, MTC has also started working 

with the Clinton Foundation on the tracking of people to and 

from malaria prone areas. The collaboration involves the use 

of anonymised mobile phone usage data to conduct seminal 

assessment and planning of the complete elimination of malaria 

from Namibia and other bordering countries. 

Malaria is carried around the world by humans even making areas 

such as Europe and the United States vulnerable to outbreaks. 

As such, it is critical to understand how people – and therefore 

malaria parasites – move to and from countries that are attempting 

to eliminate the disease. These movements are typically very 

data represents an unprecedented and extremely valuable data 

source for doing so. Without comprising confidentiality, this data 

is used to determine overall population movements and can 

be linked to maps of malaria risk to estimate rates of infection 

importation to differing areas.

MTC is also assisting renowned international conservation 

organisation Biosphere Expeditions on a leopard research 

project near Windhoek. The project’s aims are to gather reliable 

scientific data on the ecology of cat predators living on private 

game farms in Namibia.

 

The project wants to understand how leopards, as predators, 

form an important part of a healthy ecosystem on a game farm. 

At the end of the project it is hoped that there will be reliable 

data provided to farmers in Namibia and Southern Africa to help 

alleviate predator/game conflicts.

To conduct their research, scientists capture leopards and then 

fit them with a GSM collar with an MTC SIM card. The collar then 

uses the MTC network to send data to a computer whenever the 

leopard picks up a signal from a mobile phone tower. With the 

help of this data, precise information about leopard movements 

is obtained, also indicating what the animals are doing within 

their home ranges on game farms.

Other significant contributions include financial and material 

support to the Annual Conference and Dinner of the Namibia 

Chamber of Commerce and Industry (NCCI) and the Namibia 

Stock Exchange (NSX) Scholar Investment Challenge. 

Through the MTC Foundation, MTC selected 13 foster care 

home or kindergartens - one centre in each political region – and 

donated an amount of N$ 100,000 to each of these to continue 

As a leader in corporate social investment and as a demonstration 

of its high investment in social responsibility causes, MTC was 

awarded the “Best Corporate Responsible Company” award at 

the Namibia Business Awards function which coincided with the 

Namibia International Investment Forum in 2011.
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MANAGING HUMAN CAPITAL

a positive balance between all employees’ expectations versus 

that of the business. To achieve this objective the department 

deliberately opted for an effective and aggressive strategic 

approach in 2011, which ensured that all departmental objectives 

are aligned to that of the business, and that there is harmony and 

purpose towards a common goal.

The strategy was declared a success, as indicated by the 

achievements below.

Health & Safety

important consideration in everything that we do. If it is profi table 

but not safe, we would rather not do it at all.

We have successfully implemented a key project in the form of 

have a robust and comprehensive health and safety system and 

therefore effectively administering all health and safety issues.

While we continue to support National Road Safety initiatives 

through our sponsorships, we have also introduced hands free 

devices in all company vehicles to make driving safer, while we 

continue to encourage all employees to refrain from driving 

while talking on their mobiles. Of signifi cant importance is that 

we became the fi rst company to preach the “precautionary 

approach” with the use of cell phones in the wake of the World 

possible carcinogenic. This spoke volumes of the organisation’s 

approach to health and safety. 

We have continued to do our annual wellness testing and also 

which was well attended. 

The Institute of People Management of Namibia

Management in Namibia was successfully established and geared 

to hold its fi rst conference in November 2011. The Institute 

of People Management is offi cially sponsored by MTC and 

already boasts a total membership of over 150 individual and

corporate members.

MTC is proud to have founded and head the leadership position 

of the Institute and will continue to support this important national 

platform in the best interest of human development in Namibia.

Employee Recognition

In placing a great emphasis on customer service, MTC embarked 

on a campaign called Count on Me that saw all frontline staff 

attending rigorous customer service training. This was done to 

ensure that we always place our customers fi rst and that we are 

able to distinguish ourselves through top class customer service. 

To reinforce this we introduced an initiative called the On the 

Spot Reward where any employee can nominate and recognise 

a colleague for a job well done. We also introduced what we call 

the Ideas Register where any employee who has a brilliant idea 

can share the idea and be rewarded for it. This ensures that we 

continue to inspire all employees to think out of the box and be 

innovative.

In addition to the above, we recognised employees who served 

MTC for 15 years out of our 16 year existence. Along them we 

also recognised employees in various categories including The 

Employee and Manager of the Year and the recipient of the 

Managing Director’s Award.

Performance Management

automate its performance management. 

This supports the current performance management system 

whose aim is to ensure that we remain a competitive organisation, 

with a focus on being purely performance driven.

 

Business Excellence

MTC has for the very fi rst time participated in Deloitte “Best 

Company to Work for” Survey which has now been extended to 

include Southern African countries. As a fi rst time participant, MTC 

scored impressively with an overall score of 3.82, which earned the 

company The Deloitte Standard of Excellence Seal, awarded to all 

participant companies who achieved a mean score of 3.7 and above.  
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Affirmative Action

Affirmative Action continues to be an important consideration. 

MTC’s workforce is now fairly balanced with 52% being male and 

48% female. The company continues to comply with all aspects 

of Affirmative Action and has received its Affirmative Action 

Compliance Certificate. 

Training & Development (Scholarships)

MTC has continued with its commitment in investing in students 

that show great potential but who are not financially able to 

further their studies. As part of nation-building and developing 

a competitive Namibian workforce, the Company introduced 

its Bursary Scheme in 2004. To date, the program has already 

benefitted 49 students. In 2011, a total of 8 new students 

were awarded full bursaries in various fields that were deemed 

necessary not just for MTC, but for Namibia as well. The Bursary 

Scheme is set to continue and will in future place emphasis on  

ICT development.

A total amount of N$ 500,000 was budgeted for scholarships 

in 2011. 78% of graduating students have successfully been 

integrated and offered jobs by the Company.

The Company has also continued to invest in its own employees 

through training and development. A total of N$ 1,072,806 million 

was invested in employee training and development in 2011.

 

ISO 9001:2008 Certification

MTC continues to maintain its ISO 9001: 2008 compliance 

certificate and has done extremely well in recent audits. The 

company has through this certification joined the most successful 

companies in the world. The certification is a stamp of approval 

on the quality of our systems, processes and ability to serve  

our customers.
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Innovation has been MTC’s strategic core for many years (e.g. 

and today it is a defi ning element in MTC’s DNA. According to 

developed by the reputed international entity called Synovate 

– Research Reinvented, MTC reached a score of 81% (according 

to the methodology the ideal is 83%) where network, price 

perception and service quality were the three main parts of the 

pyramid that was shown by the survey results for 2011.

During the reviewed year, MTC developed several commercial 

packages for prepaid and postpaid customers to suit the specifi c 

needs of every micro segment. The introduction of BlackBerry® 

in February was a tremendous success, not only in the postpaid 

market but also for prepaid customers. Although RIM® (the 

company of BlackBerry®) does not allow the disclosure of our 

number of active subscribers, we however were surprised by 

the high demand for these services. Most customers prefer 

the Connect SmartPhone package that cost N$ 399 per month 

and offers 600 minutes, 300 SMSs and 600 MB for movies per 

month. The BlackBerry® service in these postpaid packages are 

included and gives the user the freedom of e-mail usage and 

internet browsing, excluding video.

On the prepaid side, we built on the incredible success of Aweh-

Aweh launched last year with a new champion, namely T49, 

added in 2011. This strengthened the wide offering to answer 

different demands, which was the result of our efforts in terms 

of developing new approaches. T49 allows customers to call 

to any network for only 38c per minute all day, every day. Plus, 

the customer gets 100 free SMSs per day after the fi rst SMS is 

charged at the normal rate.

 

On the data side, the core focus of MTC’s commercial department 

was to enlarge the packages in the NetMan range. The most 

successful package was NetMan unlimited, at the cost of N$ 949. 

Currently, MTC has more than one thousand customers in this 

high-end package range and generates (download and upload) 

on average more than 50GB per month. The second most 

successful product was the NetMan data bundle, with packages 

ranging from 50MB for N$ 25 up to 5GB for N$ 999.

At arms reach of desire

The main objective in all commercial activities is to provide better 

and faster service to every MTC customer. In order to follow that 

provide better service to this important segment of our market. 

The second important contribution to the armada is to assist 

our contract customers to pay their bills more easily. Aiming to 

improve availability and a faster service, MTC completed the fi rst 

step of a new application that transfers the payments received 

from our Pop-dealers (42 stores countrywide where contract bills 

can be paid) to MTC without any physical transaction. The second 

step is to complete the connection directly from the Pop-dealers 

to our billing system, which will be completed end of March 2012.

The third development accomplished in the year reviewed is 

an improvement at our repair centre, whereby the customer 

is accurately informed of where his/her cellphone is. The new 

system keeps track throughout the entire repair process, from 

the moment that the customer delivers the device until it is fi xed 

and returned again. During the repair process the customer 

receives an SMS during different stages, until the fi nal request is 

sent to collect the device from the place specifi ed by the client.

Performance expectation 

During the year MTC decided to deploy a CRM platform that 

manages all contract interactions with customers, being either 

a new contract application or the renewal of a contract. With 

the new CRM tool, all requests will be managed in an automatic 

pool and visualised in daily reports indicating which customer 

is on hold and who is attending to their request. In the end, we 

improve this very important area by monitoring the performance 

delivery on each request.

At the Call Centre, we have reached the point where we receive 

more than 800,000 calls per month from prepaid customers 

450,000 customers request to be transferred to agents in three 

different languages. Postpaid customers talk directly to the 

agents and those calls add up to 75,000 per month. The majority 

of our prepaid customers that are calling our Call Centre (close 

to 50% of the calls) are to request settings to enable cell phones 

to connect to the Internet. In order to answer the tremendous 

demand of those requests, MTC chose the most advanced 

system to automatically confi gure the mentioned settings. The 

new system will be implemented during the fi rst quarter of 

next year.

COMMERCIAL OPERATIONS
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The fi nancial year that ended 30 September 2011 has been 

rewarding for stakeholders. Despite the uncertainties associated 

with the aftermath of the global fi nancial crisis and regulatory 

pressure to decrease interconnect rates, MTC achieved acceptable 

growth on subscriber numbers and revenue. The major contributor 

to improved performance came from revenue generated by MTC’s 

pre-paid services.

Total Revenue

A revenue growth from N$ 1,409 billion to N$ 1,454.7 billion was 

accounted, which resulted in a growth of 3,2% year on year. As a 

result of proper management on the segments of the market the 

split between the different revenue accounting vote remained the 

same with the only exception of a 1% move between interconnect 

income and handset sales. The decrease accounted on 

interconnect revenue was a direct result of regulatory interference 

whereby revenue was decreased from N$ 0.50 to N$ 0.30 as 

from 1 January 2011. As stated under note 3 from the fi nancial 

statements, handset sales increased by 17% compared to the 

previous fi nancial year.

Subscribers

The number of customers increased by 21% to 1,854.7 million. This 

was largely due to MTC’s strategy of retaining current customers 

and achieving 60% of the net adds for the industry. The number 

customers reported at 30 September 2011 were 1,745 million for 

prepaid and 110,000 for postpaid.

EBITDA (Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortisation)

MTC’s EBITDA margin decreased from 55,8% to 53,2% for the 

year under review as a result of numerous factors. An increase in 

direct cost and direct network operating cost was led by higher 

rental cost of leased lines and network repair and maintenance 

THE FINANCIAL YEAR
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 UNDER REVIEW

REVENUE  2010

Prepaid  54%
Postpaid  31%
Roaming  5%

5%
Interconnect  4%
Other  1%

SUBSCRIBER GROWTH RATE

18%

38%

34%
36%

27%
20% 21%

SUBSCRIBERS

363.6 507.2 676.8 926.4 1188.7 1433.2 1744.6

40.2
48.3

66.7

82.2

94.8

101.3

110.1

Postpaid

Prepaid

REVENUE  2011

Prepaid  54%
Postpaid  31%
Roaming  5%
Interconnect  5%

4%
Other  1%
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costs to support the network expansion, as well as the increase 

in traffic volumes. The cost of leased lines increased by 24,8% 

and the repair and maintenance of the network by 32,7%. The 

unfavourable foreign exchange movement for the Namibia Dollar 

impacted EBITDA negatively as well. MTC reported an EBITDA of 

53,2% after the capitalisation of the free handsets offered on the 

contract connect packages compared to the 55,8% of the previous 

financial year. An amount of N$ 95 million was capitalised.

Capital Investments

Capital expenditure slowed down compared to the previous 

financial year, but still encompassed a substantial amount of net 

income after tax. The amount invested for the financial year under 

review amounted N$ 236,6 million, and 74% of profit after tax. All 

capital expenditure was incurred at the ruling exchange rate on 

the transaction date.

A major portion of the capital investment was made on technical 

aspects to ensure capacity at the demand of customers as well as 

providing excellent service to customers. All capital projects were 

funded from own resources, resulting from MTC’s positive cash 

flow position. 
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Depreciation and Amortization

MTC’s depreciation increased by N$ 84 million to N$ 303 million 

for the financial year ended 30 September 2011. This was due to 

the high capital investment made during the last few years.

Accounting environment

The financial statements are compliant with International Financial 

Reporting Standards.

DIVIDENDS PAID

2007 2008 200920062005 2010 2011

80.0

Dividends Paid - Accumulated Dividends Paid 

110.0
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128.0
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Dividends paid for the year under review decreased by  

N$ 19.6 million or 5.1% mainly as a result of the decreased profit 

after tax. The payment of dividends as declared by the board was 

100% of profit after tax as the previous financial year.

INCOME TAX PAID

2007 2008 200920062005 2010 2011

493.0

336.0

167.0
157.0

643.0

150.0

754.0

111.0

898.2

144.2 145.4

160.5

1043.6

1204.1

2004

169.0
111.0
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Company income tax paid for the financial year ended increased 

from N$ 145,4 million to N$ 160,50 million mainly as a result of the 

wear and tear allowance as per Tax legislation of Namibia.
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 Director  Director

 D Conradie  A M F Geraldes 

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY 
BY THE DIRECTORS ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2011

The directors are responsible for monitoring the preparation of 

and the integrity of the fi nancial statements and other informa-

tion contained in this annual report.  

In order for the board to discharge its responsibilities, man-

agement has developed and continues to maintain a system of 

internal controls. The board has ultimate responsibility for the 

system of internal controls and reviews its operation primarily 

through the audit committee. 

The internal controls include a risk-based system of internal 

accounting and administrative controls designed to provide 

reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and that 

transactions are executed and recorded in accordance with gen-

erally accepted business practices and the group’s policies and 

procedures. These controls are implemented by trained, skilled 

personnel with an appropriate segregation of duties, monitored 

by management and include a comprehensive budgeting and 

reporting system operating within strict deadlines and an 

appropriate control framework.  

The fi nancial statements are prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards and incorporate 

responsible disclosure in line with the accounting philosophy 

of the group. The fi nancial statements are based on appropri-

ate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by 

reasonable and prudent judgements and estimated. 

The directors believe that the company will be a going concern 

in the year ahead. For this reason they continue to adopt the 

going concern basis in preparing the annual fi nancial state-

ments.

The annual fi nancial statements for the year ended 30 Septem-

ber 2011 set out on pages 4 to 53 were approved by the Board 

of Directors on 5 December 2011 and are signed on its behalf by:
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We have audited the group annual fi nancial statements and 

annual fi nancial statements of Mobile Telecommunications 

Limited, which comprise the consolidated and separate 

statement of fi nancial position as at 30 September 2011, and the 

consolidated and separate statement of comprehensive income, 

the consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity 

and the consolidated and separate statement of cashfl ow for 

the year then ended, and a summary of signifi cant accounting 

policies and other explanatory notes and the directors’ report, as 

set out on pages 4 to 53.  

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and 

fair presentation of these fi nancial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner 

required by the Companies Act of Namibia. This responsibility 

includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal con-

trol relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of fi nancial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 

to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 

policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 

the circumstances. 

Auditor’s Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial 

statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accor-

dance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards 

require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 

fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 

about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, in-

cluding the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 

the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In mak-

ing those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 

relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 

fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of ex-

pressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 

control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the fi nancial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion  

In our opinion, these fi nancial statements present fairly, in all ma-

terial respects, the consolidated and separate fi nancial position 

of Mobile Telecommunications Limited as at 30 September 2011, 

and its consolidated and separate fi nancial performance and con-

solidated and separate cash fl ows for the year then ended in ac-

cordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and in 

the manner required by the Companies Act of Namibia. 

Deloitte & Touche   

Registered Accountants and Auditors  

Chartered Accountants (Namibia) 

ICAN practice number: 9407   

Per: Jens Kock  

Partner  

PO Box 47

Windhoek

Namibia  

15 December 2011

Regional Executives:
GG Gelink (Chief Executive), 

A Swiegers (Chief Operating Offi cer), GM Pinnock

Resident partners:

Director: G Brand

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS LIMITED
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2011

The directors herewith submit their report which forms part 

of the annual fi nancial statements of the company and the 

group annual fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ended 

30 September 2011.  

 

Nature of Business  

MTC conducts business as a registered telecommunications 

provider. The principle nature of the business is to invest in the 

telecommunications infrastructure of Namibia for provisioning of 

total communication solutions to the customer base. Although 

MTC is an autonomous Namibian company, it also provides inter-

national telecommunication solutions through direct liaison with 

providers of telecommunication services worldwide. The nature 

of the business did not change during the year under review. 

The following business activities are conducted through subsidiaries: 

  

 - Letting of property  

  

 - Dormant  

  

 - Trust established to harness resources for establishing and 

  maintaining infrastructure with the principal focus on the 

  care, welfare and support for children or orphans who can 

  not rely on the support of their parents and are homeless. 

  The trustees have decided to unwind the trust from 30 

  June 2009 onwards. As at 30 September 2011 the Trust 

  had a cash and cash equivalents balance of N$ nil and a 

  trade and other receivables balance of N$ 306 061. The 

  trust will be deregistered as soon as the receivable is 

  collected.  

Financial results  

The results of operations are set out on page 6.  

The fi nancial position of the group is set out in the statements of 

fi nancial position on page 7.  

Group revenue for the year under review was N$ 1,452,9 million 

( 2010: N$ 1,406,7 million ) representing a growth of 3% over 

the prior year which was mainly as a result of the growth of the 

subscriber base and the launch of new products and services. 

Group profi t from operations decreased by N$ 96 million ( 2010: 

N$ 47,2 million) mainly due to the increased personnel costs 

and depreciation (RAN/Licences and Devices) and amortisation.

  Subscriber base 2011  2010

  Prepaid 1,744,587  1,534,528 

  Postpaid 110,088   101,297 

  Total 1,854,675  1,635,825

Share capital  

The authorised and issued share capital remained unchanged 

during the year under review. Details of the authorised, issued 

and unissued share capital at 30 September 2010 are set out in 

note 16 to the fi nancial statements. 

  Shareholding 2011 2010 

  Namibia Post and Telecom-

  

  Total 100% 100%

Dividends Distributed 2011 2010

   N$ ‘000 N$ ‘000

Declared 3 December 2009, 

 paid 15 December 2009 -  67,830 

Declared 3 December 2009, 

 paid 8 January 2010 -   131,670

Declared 9 July 2010, 

 paid 22 July 2010 -   121,523

Declared 3 December 2010, 

 paid 13 December 2010 213,003   62,603 

Declared 21 June 2011, 

 paid 8 July 2011 151,000   - 

Total  364,003  383,626 

 

On 5 December 2011, a dividend of N$ 169,000 was declared, 

but has not yet been paid out to the shareholders. 

Capital expenditure 

For the year under review, capital expenditure approved was 

N$ 450 million (2010: N$ 307 million) which included capital 

expenditure carried forward from the previous fi nancial year. 

The expenditure was funded out of internal cash generated from 



5

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

operations, with the main aim to ensure capacity in the existing 

network and extensive coverage within Namibia. 

 

There has been no change in the nature or use of the group’s and 

company’s property, plant and equipment. 

Subsidiaries  

Details of the company’s interest in its subsidiaries at 

30 September 2011 are set out on page 32 in note 12. 

  

Particulars of the present directors and secretary are given on 

page 1.  

board of directors during the year. The following directors were 

appointed during year, effective 1 October 2010: 

 Mr Asser Landulandje Ntinda   

The following directors were replaced on the above 

mentioned date:  

 S Motinga (Chairman)   

 S Black   

Subsequent events  

No events or circumstances which materially affect the 

interpretation of the fi nancial statements have arisen between 

30 September 2011 and the date of this report.
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 Notes 2011   2010  2011   2010 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

REVENUE 3 1,452,850    1,406,725   1,452,850    1,406,725 

OTHER INCOME  1,849    2,497   2,107    2,132

  1,454,699    1,409,222   1,454,957    1,408,857

Changes in inventories of fi nished goods  81,349    79,784   81,349    79,784

Direct costs  278,214    237,320   278,214    237,321

Sales and marketing  73,554    75,892   73,554    75,892

General and administration  104,758    92,616   103,921    92,222

Personnel costs  142,694    137,777   142,694    137,777

Depreciation  174,942    154,861   174,868    154,787

Amortisation  128,252    64,319   128,252    64,319

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 3  470,936    566,653   472,105    566,755 

Finance income 4  13,027    18,772   13,024    18,766

Finance costs 5  5,103    1,667   5,103    1,339 

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION  478,860   583,758   480,026    584,182

Taxation 7  160,008    187,008   160,294    187,052

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  318,852    396,750   319,732    397,130

Other comprehensive income  -     -    -     -  

Taxation thereon  -     -    -     -  

        

  318,852    396,750   319,732    397,130

       

Profi t attributable to:        

Equity holders of the parent  318,852    396,750   319,732    397,130 

      

Total comprehensive income attributable to:        

Equity holders of the parent  318,852    396,750   319,732    397,130

        

    

- Basic and diluted 8  1,275,4   1,587,0  1,278,9   1,588,5

  1,456    1,535   1,456    1,535

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2011
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 Notes 2011   2010  2011   2010 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

ASSETS      

NON-CURRENT ASSETS       

Property, plant and equipment 9  939,733    1,022,717   937,059    1,019,969

Intangible assets 11  224,535    218,228   224,535    218,228

Investment in subsidiaries 12   -     -    2,508    2,345 

Long term deposit 22.3 75,113    38,886   75,113    38,886

  1,239,381    1,279,831   1,239,215    1,279,428

CURRENT ASSETS       

Inventories 13  73,140    90,229   73,140    90,229 

Trade and other receivables 14  138,753    153,444   138,724    153,415 

Cash and cash equivalents 15  245,015    267,348   245,004    266,215

  456,908    511,021   456,868    509,859

TOTAL ASSETS  1,696,289    1,790,852   1,696,083    1,789,287

       

Share capital 16  25,000    25,000   25,000    25,000

Retained income  1,096,089    1,141,240   1,095,557    1,139,828

Total equity  1,121,089    1,166,240   1,120,557    1,164,828

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES       

Long term liability 17  -     45,940   -     45,940 

Trade and other payables 19  1,087    3,059   1,087    3,059

Deferred taxation 18  268,318    279,114   268,333    279,040

  269,405    328,113   269,420    328,039

CURRENT LIABILITIES       

Trade and other payables  19  192,005    200,811   191,976    200,583

Deferred revenue 20  89,564    81,783   89,564    81,783

Taxation  24,226    13,905   24,566    14,054

  305,795    296,499   306,106    296,420

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  1,696,289    1,790,852   1,696,083    1,789,287  

 

          

  

          

  

          

  

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011
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 Share  Retained Total

 capital income 

 N$’000  N$’000  N$’000 

GROUP 

Balance at 30 September 2009  25,000  1,128,116  1,153,116

Comprehensive income for the year -   396,750   396,750 

Ordinary dividends -  (383,626) (383,626)

Balance at 30 September 2010 25,000  1,141,240  1,166,240

Comprehensive income for the year -   318,852   318,852 

Ordinary dividends -  (364,003) (364,003)

Balance at 30 September 2011 25,000  1,096,089  1,121,089

COMPANY

Balance at 30 September 2009 25,000  1,126,324  1,151,324

Comprehensive income for the year -   397,130   397,130 

Ordinary dividends -  (383,626) (383,626)

Balance at 30 September 2010 25,000  1,139,828  1,164,828

Comprehensive income for the year  -   319,732   319,732 

Ordinary dividends -  (364,003) (364,003)

Balance at 30 September 2011 25,000  1,095,557  1,120,557 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2011
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 Notes 2011   2010  2011   2010 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

Cash receipts from customers  1,469,390    1,385,520   1,469,648    1,384,860

Cash paid to suppliers and employees    (699,975)   (565,253)  (698,939)   (564,499)

Cash generated from operations 21.1 769,415    820,267  770,709    820,361

Interest paid  (5,103)   (1,667)  (5,103)   (1,339)

Interest received  13,027    18,772   13,024    18,766

Taxation paid 21.2  (160,483)   (145,360)  (160,489)   (145,350)

Net cash fl ows from operating activities  616,856   692,012   618,141   692,438 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (127,267)   (231,708)  (127,267)   (231,708)

Acquisitions of intangible assets  (109,353)   (178,325)  (109,353)   (178,325)

Proceeds on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment  3,598    592   3,598    592 

Proceeds on disposal on intangibles  1,598    -    1,598    -  

Construction deposit paid  (36,227)   (38,886)  (36,227)   (38,886)

Net movement in subsidiary company loan   -     -    (163)   (141)

Net cash fl ows from investing activities  (267,651)   (448,327)  (267,814)   (448,468)

Long term liabilities raised   -     45,940   -     45,940 

Dividends paid  (364,003)   (383,626)  (364,003)   (383,626)

Net cash fl ows from fi nancing activities  (364,003)   (337,686)  (364,003)   (337,686)

AT BEGINNING OF YEAR  267,348    361,334   266,215    359,916 

AT END OF YEAR 15 245,015    267,348   245,004    266,215

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2011
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011

  

1.1 Basis of preparation  

The fi nancial statements set out on pages 4 to 53 are prepared on 

a going concern basis using the historical cost basis, except for 

fi nancial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value. All monetary 

information and fi gures presented in these fi nancial statements 

are stated in thousands of Namibia Dollar (N$ ‘000), since that is 

the currency in which the majority of the group’s transactions are 

denominated. The policies applied are consistent with those ap-

plied in the previous year.   

 Statement of compliance  

The fi nancial statements of the company and group have been pre-

pared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB) and the requirements of the Companies Act of Namibia. 

 

 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 

The accounting policies adopted by the group are consistent with 

those of the previous fi nancial year except as follows:

The group has adopted the following new and amended IFRS 

and IFRIC interpretations during the year. The adoption of these 

revised standards and interpretations did not have any effect on 

the fi nancial performance or position of the group. They did how-

ever give rise to additional disclosures, including in some cases, 

revision to accounting policies.   

The principal effect of these changes are as follows:

 IFRS 2 Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payments – 

 Group cash-settled share-based payment arrangements 

The amendment to IFRS 2 clarifi es the scope and the accounting 

for group cash-settled share-based payment transactions and is 

effective 1 January 2010. 

 IAS 32 Amendment to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: 

 Presentation - Classifi cation of rights issues   

The amendment is effective 1 February 2010. The amendment 

alters the defi nition of a fi nancial liability in IAS 32 to enable 

entities to classify rights issues and certain options or warrants as 

equity instruments. The amendment is applicable if the rights 

are given pro rata to all existing owners of the same class of an 

entity’s non-derivative equity instruments, to acquire a fi xed num-

ber of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fi xed amount in 

any currency.   

  IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with 

Equity Instruments  

IFRIC 19 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 

2010. The interpretation clarifi es that equity instruments issued to 

a creditor to extinguish a fi nancial liability qualify as consideration 

paid. The equity instruments issued are measured at their fair val-

ue. In case that this cannot be reliably measured, the instruments 

are measured at the fair value of the liability extinguished. Any gain 

or loss is recognised immediately in profi t or loss.

 

 Amendments to IFRS 1 – Limited exemption from compara-

 tive IFRS 7 disclosures  

Amendment to IFRS 1 relates to the utilisation of transitional pro-

visions in IFRS 7 and is effective 1 July 2010. The Company does 

not expect an impact on the fi nancial statements.  

 2009 Annual Improvements to IFRS effective 1 January 2010

 IFRS 5 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued 

 operations  

Clarifi es that the disclosures required in respect of non-current 

assets or disposal groups held for sale or discontinued operations 

are only those set out in IFRS 5. The disclosure requirements of 

other IFRS’s only apply if specifi cally required for such as non-

current assets or discontinued operations.  

 IFRS 8 Operating segments 

Clarifi es that segment assets and liabilities need only be reported 

when those assets and liabilities are included in measures that are 

used by the chief operating decision maker.  

 IAS 1 Presentation of fi nancial statements  

Clarifi es that the terms of a liability that could result, at anytime, 

in its settlement by the issuance of equity instruments as the op-

tion of the counterparty do not affect its classifi cation. 

 IAS 7 Statement of cash fl ows  

Explicitly states that on expenditure that result in a recognised 

asset can be classifi ed as a cash fl ow from investing activities. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

 IAS 17 Leases  

The amendment removes the specifi c guidance on classifying 

land as a lease so that only the general guidance remains. 

 IAS 36 Impairment of assets  

Clarifi es that the largest unit permitted for allocating goodwill 

acquired in a business combination is the operating segment, as 

defi ned in IFRS 8 before aggregation for reporting purposes. 

 IAS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement

 Assessment of loan prepayment penalties as embedded 

 derivatives 

The amendment clarifi es that a prepayment option is considered 

closely related to the host contract when the exercise price of a 

prepayment option reimburses the lender up to the approximate 

present value of the lost interest for the remaining term of the 

host contract.  

 IAS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement 

 Scope exemption for business combination contract 

The amendment clarifi es that the scope exemption for contracts 

between an acquirer and a vendor in a business combination to 

buy or sell and acquire at a future date, applies only to binding 

forward contracts, and not derivative contracts where further ac-

tions by either party are still to be taken.  

 IAS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement

 Cash fl ow hedging  

The amendment clarifi es that gains or losses on cash fl ow hedges 

of a forecast transaction that subsequently results in the recogni-

tion of a fi nancial instrument or on cash fl ow hedges of recog-

nised fi nancial instruments should be reclassifi ed in the period 

the hedged forecast cash fl ow affect profi t or loss. 

 2010 Annual Improvements to IFRS effective 1 July 2010

 IFRS 3 Business Combinations – Measurement of non-con-

 trolling interest 

Limits the scope of the measurement choices that only the com-

ponents of non-controlling interest that are present ownership 

interests that entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the 

entity’s net assets, in the event of liquidation, shall either be mea-

sured at fair value or at the present ownership instruments’ pro-

portionate share of the acquiree’s net identifi able assets.

 IFRS 3 Business Combinations – Transition requirements for 

 contingent consideration from a business combination that 

 occurred before the effective date of the revised IFRS 

Clarifi es that the amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 

Disclosures, IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 

39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement, that 

eliminate the exemption for contingent consideration, do not 

apply to the contingent consideration that arose from business 

combination whose acquisition dates precede the application of 

IFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).  

 IFRS 3 Business Combinations – Measurement of non-con-

 trolling interest  

Requires an entity (in a business combination) to account for the 

replacement of the acquiree’s share-based payment transactions 

(whether obliged or voluntarily), i.e., split between consideration 

the acquiree’s awards that expires as a consequence of the busi-

ness combination, these are recognised as post-combination 

expenses.  

 IAS 27 Consolidated and Seperate Financial Statements - 

 Transition requirments for amendments made as a results of 

 IAS 27 Consolidated and Seperate Financial Statements

Clarifi es that the amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 

Disclosures, IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 39 

Financial Clarifi es that the consequential amendments from IAS 

27 made to IAS 21 The Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange 

Rates, IAS 28 Investment in Associates and IAS 31 Interests in 

on or after 1 July 2009 or earlier when IAS 27 is applied earlier. 

 

 Basis of consolidation  

The group annual fi nancial statements consolidate the fi nancial 

statements of the company and all subsidiaries as at 30 Septem-

ber each year. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date

of acquisition, being the date on which the group obtains control, 

and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control 

ceases. The fi nancial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared 

for the same reporting year as the parent company, using consis-

tent accounting policies. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

 

 Basis of consolidation (continued) 

Subsidiaries are defi ned as those companies in which the group, 

either directly or indirectly, has more than one half of the vot-

ing rights, has the right to appoint more than half the board of 

directors or otherwise has the power to control the fi nancial and 

operating activities of the entity. All entities which the group has 

the ability to control are consolidated from the effective dates of 

acquisition, being the date the group obtains control, up to the 

dates effective control is ceased. 

The identifi able assets and liabilities of companies acquired are 

assessed and included in the statement of fi nancial position at 

their fair values as at the date of acquisition. 

The company carries its investments in subsidiaries at cost less 

accumulated impairment losses.  

All intra-group balances, income and expenses, unrealised gains 

and losses and dividends resulting from intra-group transactions 

are eliminated in full.  

 Set off  

Assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists 

to set off current assets against current liabilities. Deferred tax as-

sets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable 

right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabili-

ties and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and 

the same taxation authority.  

 assumptions  

 Judgements made by management 

The preparation of the group’s consolidated fi nancial statements 

in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judge-

ments, estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts 

result in actual results that differ from these estimates. Certain 

accounting policies have been identifi ed as involving particularly 

complex or subjective judgements or assessments, as follows:

 Allowance for doubtful debts  

The group has made signifi cant judgements and estimates relat-

ing to allowances for doubtful debts. This allowance is created 

where there is objective evidence, for example probability of in-

solvency or signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties of the debtor, that the 

company will not be able to collect all the amounts due under 

the original terms of the invoice. An estimate is made with regard 

to the probability of insolvency and the estimated amount of the 

debtors that will not be able to pay.  

 Asset lives and residual values  

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated over its useful life 

taking into account residual values, where appropriate. The actu-

al lives of the assets and residual values are assessed annually and 

may vary depending on a number of factors. In reassessing asset 

lives, factors such as technological innovation and maintenance 

programmes are taken into account. Residual value assessments 

consider issues such as future market conditions, the remaining 

life of the asset and projected disposal values.  

 Intangible assets  

Intangible assets are amortised over their fi nite useful lives. The 

carrying amount of intangible assets is reviewed annually and 

adjusted for impairment if there is an indication that it may be 

impaired.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

 

 Impairment of non fi nancial assets  

Property, plant and equipment are considered for impairment if 

there is a reason to believe that impairment may be necessary. Fac-

tors taken into consideration in reaching such a decision include the 

economic viability of the asset itself and where it is a component of 

a larger economic unit, the viability of that unit itself. Future cash 

fl ows expected to be generated by the assets are projected, taking 

into account market conditions and the expected useful lives of the 

assets. The present value of these cash fl ows, determined using 

an appropriate discount rate, is compared to the current net asset 

value and, if lower, the assets are impaired to the present value. 

 

 Impairment of intangible assets  

The group determines whether intangible assets are impaired at 

least on an annual basis. This requires estimation of the value in 

use of the intangible assets. Estimating the value in use requires 

the group to make an estimate of the future cash fl ows associated 

with the respective assets and also to choose a suitable discount 

rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash fl ows.

 Sources of estimation uncertainty  

There are no key assumptions concerning the future and other 

key sources of estimation uncertainty at the statement of fi nancial 

position date that management have assessed as having a signifi -

cant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts 

of the assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year, except 

for the assumptions and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

with regard to retention bonuses as disclosed in note 19. 

 Property, plant and equipment  

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Such cost in-

cludes the cost of replacing part of the plant and equipment when 

that cost is incurred, if the recognition criteria are met. Likewise, 

when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in 

the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement 

if the recognition criteria are satisfi ed. Certain internal costs, such 

as materials, work force and transportation, incurred to build or 

produce tangible assets are capitalized if the recognition criteria 

are satisfi ed. All other repair and maintenance costs are recog-

nised in profi t or loss as incurred.   

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of property, 

plant and equipment on a straight line basis, over the estimated 

useful life of the asset to its residual value. Land is not depreci-

ated. Capital work in progress is not depreciated as these assets 

are not yet available for use. Depreciation rates used are: 

    2011 2010 

    per annum per annum

Buildings  5% 5%

Computer and 

prepaid equipment 6.67 - 33% 6.67 - 33.3 %

Network equipment 5 - 20% 5 - 20%

Motor vehicles 

(excl. Land Cruisers) 16 - 25% 16 - 25%

Motor vehicles 20% 20%

Furniture and fi ttings 6 - 20% 6 - 20%

Leasehold improvements 8 - 33.3% 8 - 33.3%

Staff handsets 50% 50%

Projects   50% 50%

Residual values, useful lives and methods are reviewed, and 

adjusted if appropriate, at each fi nancial year end. 

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed 

for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate 

the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication 

exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated 

recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units are written 

down to their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of 

property, plant and equipment is the greater of net selling price 

and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 

cash fl ows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate that refl ects current market assessments of the time 

value of money and the risks specifi c to the asset. Each signifi cant 

component included in an item of property, plant and equipment 

is separately recorded and depreciated. The depreciation rates 

corresponds to the estimated average useful lives of the respective 

assets. For an asset that does not generate largely independent 

cash infl ows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs. Impairment losses are 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

disposal or when no future economic benefi ts are expected to 

arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising 

on derecognition of the asset is included in the statement of com-

prehensive income in the year the item is derecognised. 

General and special purpose buildings are generally classifi ed as 

owner occupied. They are held at cost and depreciated as property, 

plant and equipment and not regarded as investment properties. 

 

 Intangible assets  

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial 

recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets 

are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any 

accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are recognised 

if any future economic benefi ts are expected and those benefi ts 

could be reliably measured. Intangible assets consist of software 

licences. The amortisation rate used is:

    2011 2010    

    per annum per annum

Software licences 8 - 33.3% 8 - 33.3% 

Contract devices 50% 50% 

NetMan devices 33.30% 33.30%

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either fi nite 

or indefi nite. Intangibles with fi nite lives are amortised over the 

useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever 

there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. 

The amortisation expense is recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income.  

The amortisation period and the amortisation method is reviewed 

at each fi nancial year end. Changes in the expected useful life of 

the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period, 

as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates.

  Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of qualifying assets are capitalised 

as part of the cost of such asset. All other borrowing costs are 

recognised as an expense when incurred. Borrowing costs consist 

of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with 

the borrowing of funds. 

  Investments and other fi nancial assets

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 : Financial 

Instruments are classifi ed as either fi nancial assets at fair 

value through profi t or loss, loans and receivables, held to 

maturity investments, and available for sale fi nancial assets, 

as appropriate. When fi nancial assets are recognised initially, 

they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments 

not at fair value through profi t or loss, directly attributable 

transaction costs.  

The Group determines the classifi cation of its fi nancial assets 

on initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, 

re-evaluates this designation at each fi nancial year end.

  Loans and receivables  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 

with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 

in an active market. After initial measurement loans and 

receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method less any allowance for 

impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking into account 

any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees 

that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and 

transaction costs. Gains and losses are recognised in the 

statement of comprehensive income when the loans and 

receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through 

the amortisation process.  

  Fair value  

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised 

fi nancial markets is determined by reference to quoted market 

bid prices at the close of business on the statement of fi nancial 

position date. For investments where there is no active market, 

fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such 

techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions; 

reference to the current market value of another instrument, 

which is substantially the same; discounted cash fl ow analysis or 

other valuation models. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

  Impairment of fi nancial assets 

The Group assesses at each statement of fi nancial position date 

whether a fi nancial asset or group of fi nancial assets is impaired.

  Assets carried at amortised cost  

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans 

and receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, 

the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between 

the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 

future cash fl ows (excluding future credit losses that have not 

been incurred) discounted at the fi nancial asset’s original effective 

interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial 

recognition). The carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced 

either directly or through use of an allowance account. The amount 

of the loss shall be recognised in the statement of comprehensive 

income.    

The Group fi rst assesses whether objective evidence of 

impairment exists individually for fi nancial assets that are 

signifi cant, and individually or collectively for fi nancial assets that 

are not signifi cant. If it is determined that no objective evidence 

of impairment exists for an individually assessed fi nancial asset, 

whether signifi cant or not, the asset is included in a group of 

fi nancial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that 

group of fi nancial assets is collectively assessed for impairment. 

Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for 

which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not 

included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 

decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 

occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 

recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent 

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the statement 

of comprehensive income, to the extent that the carrying value 

of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal 

date.    

In relation to trade receivables a provision for impairment is 

made when there is objective evidence (such as the probability 

of insolvency or signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties of the debtor) 

that the Group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due 

under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of 

the receivable is reduced through use of an allowance account. 

Impaired debts are derecognised when they are assessed as 

uncollectible.  

  Financial liabilities  

Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost where a 

maturity date exists, or cost if no maturity date exists. 

Amortised cost is calculated on the effective interest rate method. 

Gains and losses on subsequent measurement are taken to the 

statement of comprehensive income.  

  Derecognition of fi nancial assets and liabilities

  Financial assets 

A fi nancial asset is derecognised when the rights to receive cash 

fl ows from the asset have expired.  

  Financial liabilities  

A fi nancial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the 

liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.  

  Inventories  

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable 

value.   

Cost is determined using the average cost per item purchased 

during the fi nancial year. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 

course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the 

estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

  Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and short term deposits in the statement of fi nancial position 

comprise cash at banks and at hand and short term deposits with 

an original maturity of three months or less.  

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash fl ows, 

cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as 

defi ned above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation 

(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable 

that an outfl ow of resources embodying economic benefi ts will 

be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can 

be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the group 

expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example 

under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised 

as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually 

certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the 

statement of comprehensive income net of any reimbursement. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions 

are discounted using a current pre tax rate that refl ects, where 

appropriate, the risks specifi c to the liability. Where discounting 

is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time 

is recognised as a fi nance cost.  

  Post employment benefi ts  

 Defi ned contribution plans  

Contributions in respect of defi ned contribution plans are recog-

nised as an expense in the year to which they relate. 

 Leases  

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms 

of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 

of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as 

operating leases.

 Group as lessor  

Amounts due from lessees under fi nance leases are recorded as 

receivables at the amount of the group’s net investment in the 

leases. Finance lease income is allocated to the accounting pe-

riods so as to refl ect a constant periodic rate of return on the 

group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-

line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs in-

curred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added 

to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term.  

 Group as lessee  

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as 

the assets of the group at their fair value at the inception of 

the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 

lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is 

included in the statement of financial position as a finance 

lease obligation.  

Lease payments are apportioned between fi nance charges and 

reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate 

of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charg-

es are charged directly to profi t or loss, unless they are directly at-

tributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised 

in accordance with the group’s general policy on borrowing costs. 

Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in 

which they incurred.  

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another sys-

tematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 

economic benefi ts from the leased asset are consumed. Contin-

gent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an 

expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into 

operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. 

The aggregate benefi t of incentives is recognised as a reduc-

tion of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where 

another systematic basis is more representative of the time 

pattern in which economic benefi ts from the leased asset are 

consumed. 

 Revenue recognition  

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 

economic benefi ts will fl ow to the group and the revenue can 

be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of 

the consideration receivable, excluding discounts, rebates, and 

other sales taxes or duty. The group invoices independent service 

providers for the revenue billed by them on behalf of the group, 

when the deliverables are used.  

The following specifi c recognition criteria must also be met be-

fore revenue is recognised:  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

 Revenue recognition (continued)

 Post-paid products  

Post-paid products may include deliverables such as a SIM-card, 

a handset and a fi xed period service and are defi ned as arrange-

ments with multiple deliverables. The arrangement consider-

ation is allocated to each deliverable based on the fair value of 

each deliverable on a standalone basis as a percentage of the 

aggregated fair value of the individual deliverables. 

Revenue allocated to the identifi ed deliverables in each revenue 

arrangement and the cost applicable to these identifi ed deliver-

ables are recognised based on the same recognition criteria of the 

individual deliverable at the time the product or service is delivered.

 -  Revenue from connect packages, which includes activa-

 tion, SIM-cards and phone, is recognised over the period  

of the contract.  

 - Revenue from SIM-cards, representing activation fees, is 

  recognised upon activation of the SIM-card by the post-

  paid customer.  

 - Revenue from handsets is recognised when the product is 

  delivered.  

 -  Monthly service revenue received from the customer is 

  recognised in the period in which the service is rendered.

 -  Airtime revenue is recognised on the usage basis.

 Pre-paid products 

Pre-paid products may include deliverables such as a SIM-card, 

a handset and airtime and are defi ned as arrangements with 

multiple deliverables. The arrangement consideration is allocated 

to each deliverable based on the fair value of each deliverable on 

a standalone basis as a percentage of the aggregated fair value 

of the individual deliverables. Revenue allocated to the identi-

fi ed deliverables in each revenue arrangement and the cost a

pplicable to these identifi ed deliverables are recognised based 

on the same recognition criteria of the individual deliverable at 

the time the product or service is delivered.  

 - Revenue from SIM-cards, representing activation fees, is 

  recognised upon activation of the SIM-card by the pre-

  paid customer.  

 -  Airtime revenue is recognised on the usage basis. The 

  unused airtime is deferred in full.  

 -  Deferred revenue related to unused airtime is recognised 

  when utilised by the customer.

Upon termination of the customer contract, all deferred revenue 

for unused airtime is recognised in revenue.  

Deferred revenue and costs related to unactivated starter packs, 

which do not contain any expiry date, is recognised in the period 

when the probability of these starter packs being activated be-

comes remote.  

 Data service revenue  

Revenue net of discounts, from data services is recognised when 

the company has performed the related service and depending 

on the nature of the service, is recognised either at the gross 

amount billed to the customer or the amount receivable by the 

company as commission for facilitating the service. 

 Sale of equipment  

Revenue from equipment sales are recognised when the product 

is delivered and acceptance has taken place. 

Revenue from equipment sales to third party service providers is 

recognised when delivery is accepted. No rights of return exist on 

sale to third party service providers.  

 Other revenue and income  

 Interconnect and international revenue  

Interconnect and international revenue is recognised on the us-

age basis.  

 Interest  

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective in-

terest method that is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash receipts through the expected life of the fi nancial in-

strument to the net carrying amount of the fi nancial asset).

 Royalty income  

Royalty income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance 

with the substance of the relevant agreement.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

 Revenue recognition (continued)

 Rental income  

Rental income arising from operating leases of the base stations 

and other equipment are recognised on a straight line basis over 

the lease terms.  

 Foreign currency translation  

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the 

functional currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Mon-

etary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 

re-translated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at 

the statement of fi nancial position date. All differences are taken 

to profi t or loss.  

The functional currency of the group is Namibia Dollar. 

 Taxes  

 Current tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods 

are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or 

paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to 

compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively 

enacted by the statement of fi nancial position date. 

 Deferred tax 

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all 

temporary differences at the statement of fi nancial position date 

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 

amounts for fi nancial reporting purposes.  

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable tem-

porary differences. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible tem-

porary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused 

tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi t will 

be available against which the deductible temporary differences, 

carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be 

utilised.  

In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with in-

vestments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only recognised 

to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will 

reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profi t will be avail-

able against which the temporary difference can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed 

at each statement of fi nancial position date and reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that suffi cient taxable profi t 

will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax 

asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are 

reassessed at each statement of fi nancial position date and are 

recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future 

taxable profi t will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 

rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 

realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement 

of fi nancial position date.  

Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is rec-

ognised in equity and not in the statement of comprehensive in-

come.  

 Value added tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 

of value added tax except:  

 - where the value added tax incurred on a purchase of 

  assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 

  authority, in which case the value added tax is recognised 

  as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 

  the expense item as applicable; and 

 - receivables and payables that are stated with the amount 

  of value added tax included.  

The net amount of value added tax recoverable from, or payable 

to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or pay-

ables in the statement of fi nancial position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. IFRSs AND IFRIC INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET 
 EFFECTIVE  

The group has not applied the following IFRS Standards and 

IFRIC Interpretations that have been issued or amended but are 

not yet effective:  

 Effective for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011 

 IAS 24 Related Party - Disclosures  

 

 IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement – 

 Amendments to IFRIC 14  

 

 2010 Annual Improvements to IFRS effective 1 January 2011

 -  IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial 

  Reporting Standards – Accounting policy changes in the

   year of adoption; Revaluation basis as deemed cost; Use 

  of deemed cost for operations subject to rate regulation

 -  IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Clarifi cations of 

  disclosures  

 -  IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Clarifi cation 

  of statement of changes in equity  

 -  IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting – Signifi cant events and 

  transactions  

 -  IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes – Fair value of 

  award credit  

 Effective for periods commencing on or after 1 July 2011 

 IFRS 1 Amendment - Severe hyperinfl ation and removal of 

 fi xed dates for fi rst-time adopters  

 IFRS 7 Amendment – Disclosures – Transfer of fi nancial assets 

 Effective for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2012  

 IAS 1 Presentation of fi nancial statements - Presentation of 

 items in other comprehensive income 

 IAS 12 Deferred Tax - Recovery of underlying assets

 Effective for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments  

 

 IAS 19 Employee benefi ts  

 

 IAS 27 Consolidated and Seperate Financial Statements 

 

 

 IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statemets  

 

 IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements  

 

 IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

 

 

 IFRIC 20 Stripping costs in the production phase of a surface 

 mine  

None of the above standards have been early adopted. 

The effect of the application of the remaining standards on the 

reported results, fi nancial position and cash fl ows in future fi nan-

cial reporting periods has not yet been determined.
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  2011   2010  2011   2010 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

     

 Profi t from operations is stated after:       

 Income       

 REVENUE  1,452,850    1,406,725   1,452,850    1,406,725

 Contract  448,147    435,407   448,147    435,407

 Connection fees  2,671    3,425   2,671    3,425 

 Call charges  185,127    206,562   185,127    206,562

 Monthly subscription fees  254,651    219,733   254,651    219,733 

 Other income  5,698    5,687   5,698    5,687 

 Prepaid  790,541    754,390   790,541    754,390

 Starter packs  5,902    7,914   5,902    7,914 

 Call charges  780,744    743,829   780,744    743,829 

 Other income  3,895    2,647   3,895    2,647

 

 Roaming income   69,251    64,123   69,251    64,123

 Contract  11,344    11,045   11,344    11,045 

 Interconnect income  55,362    75,958   55,362    75,958

 Franchise setup fee and royalties received   636    432   636    432 

 Bulk SMS Revenue  9,729    8,567   9,729    8,567 

 Site rental  6,110    4,899   6,110    4,899 

 Income from subsidiaries   

 - Management fees - Jurgens 34 (Pty) Ltd  -    -   257    234 
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AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

   

  2011   2010  2011   2010 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

 Expenses       

 Auditors’ remuneration  942    836   928    805 

 - audit fees  942    836   928    805

 Depreciation - property, plant and equipment  174,942    154,861   174,868    154,787 

 Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  915    182   915    182

 Amortisation - intangible asset  128,252    64,319   128,252    64,319

 Operating lease expense       

 - premises  32,033    26,752   32,288    26,969

 - subsidiary - Jurgens 34 (Pty) Ltd  -     -    255    232

 - unrelated parties  4,341    4,809   4,341    3,844 

 - other  470    6,140   470    489 

  - radio sites and other  17,680    7,196   17,680    13,797 

 Fees for services - consulting fees  3,935    5,373   3,935    5,373 

 Staff costs  142,694    137,777   142,694    137,777

 - salaries and wages  125,654    119,799   125,654    119,799

 - pension fund contributions  7,324    6,973   7,324    6,973

 - medical aid contributions  6,050    5,428   6,050    5,428 

 - staff training  1,073    1,947   1,073    1,947 

 - other staff cost  2,593    3,630   2,593    3,630 

 Number of employees at year end  407    395   407    395

       

 Interest received - loans and receivables  13,027    18,772   13,024    18,766 

   13,027    18,772   13,024    18,766

5. FINANCE COSTS       

 

 Interest paid - loans and receivables  5,103    1,667   5,103    1,339 

   5,103    1,667   5,103    1,339
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

   

  2011   2010  2011   2010 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

 KEY MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION       

 Executive directors:       

 - emoluments as executives  2,883    2,892   2,883    2,892 

    2,883    2,892   2,883    2,892

 Non - executive directors:       

 - fees as directors  430    322   430    322 

 Total directors’ emoluments  3,313    3,214   3,313    3,214 

 Short term employee benefi ts  13,785    13,933   13,785    13,933 

 Long term employee benefi ts  689    697   689    697 

    14,474    14,630   14,474    14,630 

7. TAXATION       

 Namibian normal tax       

 - Current income tax  170,810    153,308   171,001    153,308

 - Deferred income tax

  - relating to temporary differences  (10,802)   40,708  (10,707)   40,752 

  - change in rate of taxation  -   (7,008)  -   (7,008)

    160,008    187,008   160,294    187,052

 Reconciliation of tax rate  %   % %  %

 Standard tax rate  34.0  34.0 34.0 34.0

 Adjusted for:

 Temporary differences  (1.0)  (0.8) (1.0) (0.8)

 Change in rate of taxation  -  (1.2) - (1.2)

 Effective tax rate  33.0  32.0 33.0 32.0
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

   

  2011   2010  2011   2010 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

8. EARNINGS PER SHARE      

 

 EARNINGS       

 Profi t after taxation  318,852    396,750   319,732    397,130

 Adjusted for:       

 - Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  915    182   915    182  

   319,767    396,932   320,647    397,312  

 WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES 

  25,000    25,000   25,000    25,000

        

 - Basic and diluted  1,275,4   1,587,0  1,278,9   1,588,5

 Basic and diluted earnings per share       

 The calculation is based on a profi t of N$ 318,852,000 (2010: profi t N$ 396,750,000) and on the weighted average of 25,000,000 

 (2010: 25,000,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.     

 The calculation is based on a profi t of N$ 319,767,000 (2010: profi t of N$ 396,932,000) and the weighted average of 25,000,000 

 (2010: 25,000,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.



24

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

 

  

  Group buildings  and furniture equipment progress improve-

    prepaid and fi ttings   ments

     equipment

   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Cost       

  Balance at beginning of year 3,329   34,159   44,707  1,511,314   52,389   18,510  1,664,408 

  Additions -   2,512   6,501   102,337   14,855   1,061   127,267  

  Disposals -   (17,350)  (6,999)  (11,923)  -   -  (36,272)

  Transfer -    47  323  19,049   (19,536)   116  -

  Transfer to intangible assets - - - - (26,755) - (26,755)

  Transfer to operating expenditure - - - - (3,992) - (3,992)

  Adjustment -    -    -  (1,517)  -   -  (1,517)

  Balance at end of year 3,329   19,369   44 ,532  1 ,619,261   16,961   19,687  1,723,139 

 

  Accumulated depreciation       

  Balance at beginning of year (581) (25,571) (24,100) (579,896)  -  (11,543) (641,691)

  Depreciation for the year (74) (4,208)  (8,651) (160,730)  -  (1,279) (174,942)

  Disposals -   17,350   6,701   9,176   -   -   33,227 

  Balance at end of year (655) (12,429) (26,050) (731,450)   -  (12,822) (783,406)

  Carrying value       

  At end of year 2,674   6,940   18,482   887,811   16,961   6,866   939,733 

  At beginning of year 2,748   8,588   20,607   931,418   52,389   6,967  1,022,718 



25

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

  

  Company buildings  and furniture equipment progress improve-

    prepaid and fi ttings   ments

     equipment

   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Cost       

  Balance at beginning of year -   34,159   44,707  1,511,312   52,391   18,510  1,661,079 

  Additions -   2,512   6,501   102,337   14,855   1,061   127,267 

  Disposals -   (17,350)  (6,999)  (11,923)  -   -  (36,272)

  Transfer -   47   323 19,049  (19,536) 116 -

  Transfer to intangible assets - - - - (26,755) - (26,755)

  Transfer to operating expenditure - - - - (3,992) - (3,992)

  Adjsutment -   -   -  (1,517)  -   -  (1,517)

  Balance at end of year -   19,369   44,532  1,619,260   16,963   19,687  1,719,810

  Accumulated depreciation       

  Balance at beginning of year -  (25,571) (24,100) (579,896)  -  (11,543) (641,110)

  Depreciation for the year -  (4,208) (8,651) (160,730)  -  (1,279) (174,868)

  Disposals -   17,350   6,701   9,176   -   -   33,227 

  Balance at end of year -  (12,429) (26,050) (731,450)   -  (12,822) (782,751)

  Carrying value       

  At end of year -   6,940   18,482   887,810   16,963   6,866   937,059 

  At beginning of year -   8,588   20,607   931,416   52,391   6,967  1,019,970
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

 

  

  Group buildings  and furniture equipment progress improve-

    prepaid and fi ttings   ments

     equipment

   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Cost       

  Balance at beginning of year 3,329   49,134   38,618  1,353,526   23,464   21,590  1,489,661 

  Additions -   3,923   8,530   165,276   52,389   1,590   231,708 

  Disposals -  (17,520)  (2,566) (21,777)   -  (4,868) (46,731)

  Transfer -   -   83   8,884  (9,158)  191    - 

  Transfer to intangible assets -   -   -     -  (10,230)   -  (10,230)

  Reclassifi cation between classes -  (1,378)  42   5,404  (4,075)  7    - 

  Balance at end of year 3,329   34,159   44,707  1,511,313   52,390   18,510  1,664,408 

  Accumulated depreciation       

  Balance at beginning of year (507) (42,041)  (20,117) (459,047)   -  (11,075) (532,787)

  Depreciation for the year (74) (950)  (6,069) (142,432)   -  (5,336) (154,861)

  Disposals -   17,420   2,086   21,583    -   4,868   45,957 

  Balance at end of year (581) (25,571) (24,100) (579,896)   -  (11,543) (641,691)

  Carrying value       

  At end of year 2,748   8,588   20,607   931,417   52,390   6,967  1,022,717 

  At beginning of year 2,822   7,093   18,501   894,479   23,464   10,515   956,874   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

  

  Company buildings  and furniture equipment progress improve-

    prepaid and fi ttings   ments

     equipment

   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Cost       

  Balance at beginning of year -   49,134   38,618  1,353,526   23,464   21,590  1,486,332 

  Additions -   3,923   8,530   165,276   52,389   1,590   231,708 

  Disposals -  (17,520)  (2,566) (21,777)   -  (4,868) (46,731)

  Transfer -   -   83   8,884  (9,158)  191    - 

  Transfer to intangible assets -   -   -     -  (10,230)   -  (10,230)

  Reclassifi cation between classes -  (1,378)  42   5,404  (4,075)  7    - 

  Balance at end of year -   34,159   44,707  1,511,312   52,391   18,510  1,661,079 

  Accumulated depreciation       

  Balance at beginning of year -  (42,041) (20,117) (459,047)  -  (11,075) (532,280)

  Depreciation for the year -  (950)  (6,069) (142,432)   -  (5,336) (154,787)

  Disposals -   17,420   2,086   21,583    -   4,868   45,957 

  Balance at end of year -  (25,571) (24,100) (579,896)   -  (11,543) (641,110)

  Carrying value       

  At end of year -   8,588   20,607   931,416   52,391   6,967  1,019,969 

  At beginning of year -   7,093   18,501   894,479   23,464   10,515   954,052 

  Additions were fi nanced from cash resources.      

  Land and buildings comprise the following:  Sectional titles unit 6 (186 m²) and unit 9 (210 m²) of United Buildings, erf 7640, 

  Windhoek.

10.  CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATE      

  In the current year the residual values and estimated useful lives of all categories of property, plant and equipment were reassessed 

  in accordance with IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment. This resulted in a change in the estimated remaining useful life of net

  work equipment which have increased current year profi ts by N$ 10,762 million (2010: N$ 24,219 million). This increase in profi t 

  will result in increased depreciation charges in future periods of the same amount.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

  2011   

     N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Cost       

  Balance at beginning of year   16,173   83,911   252,316   5,728   358,128 

  Additions   6,467   2,671   100,003   213   109,353 

  Transfer from property, plant and equipment   50 21,650 5,055 - 26,755

  Adjustment   -    -   247    -   247 

  Disposals   (9,521) (21) (83,414) (317) (93,273)

  Balance at end of year   13,168   108,211   274,207   5,624   401,210 

  Accumulated amortisation and impairment       

  Balance at beginning of year   (12,287) (3,426) (121,387) (2,800) (139,900)

  Amortisation for the year   (3,089) (31,523) (92,704) (936) (128,252)

  Disposals   9,521   21   81,618   317   91,477 

  Balance at end of year   (5,855) (34,928) (132,473) (3,419) (176,675)

  

  Carrying value       

  At end of year   7,312   73,283   141,734   2,205   224,535 

  At beginning of year   3,886   80,485   130,929   2,928   218,228 



29

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

  2011   

  Company

     N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Cost       

  Balance at beginning of year   15,944   83,911   252,316   5,728   357,899 

  Additions   6,467   2,671   100,003   213   109,353 

  Transfer from property, plant and equipment   50 21,650 5,055 - 26,755

  Transfer   - - 247 - 247

  Disposals   (9,521) (21) (83,414) (317) (93,273)

  Balance at end of year   12,939   108,211   274,207   5,624   400,981 

  Accumulated amortisation       

  Balance at beginning of year   (12,058) (3,426) (121,387) (2,800) (139,671)

  Amortisation for the year   (3,089) (31,523) (92,704) (936) (128,252)

  Disposals   9,521   21   81,618   317   91,477 

  Balance at end of year   (5,626) (34,928) (132,473) (3,419) (176,446)

  Carrying value       

  At end of year   7,313   73,283   141,734   2,205   224,535 

  At beginning of year   3,886   80,485   130,929   2,928   218,228 

  Additions were fi nanced from cash resources. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

  2010   

  Group

     N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Cost       

  Balance at beginning of year   16,133   1,606   137,154   25,834   180,727 

  Reclassifi cation between classes   -    -   (20,409)  (20,409)   - 

  Additions   739   82,305   94,923   358   178,325 

  Transfer from property, plant and equipment   -    -   10,230    -   10,230 

  Disposals   (699)   -  (10,400) (55) (11,154)

  Balance at end of year   16,173   83,911   252,316   5,728   358,128 

  Accumulated amortisation and impairment       

  Balance at beginning of year   (10,472) (1,018) (55,233) (20,012) (86,735)

  Reclassifi cation between classes   -    -  (17,611)  (17,611)    - 

  Amortisation for the year   (2,514) (2,408) (58,943) (454) (64,319)

  Disposals   699    -   10,400   55   11,154 

  Balance at end of year   (12,287) (3,426) (121,387) (2,800) (139,900)

  Carrying value       

  At end of year   3,886   80,485   130,929   2,928   218,228 

  At beginning of year   5,661   588   81,921   5,822   93,992
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

  2010   

  Company

     N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Cost       

  Balance at beginning of year   15,904   1,606   137,154   25,834   180,498 

  Reclassifi cation between classes   - - (20,409)  (20,409)   - 

  Additions   739   82,305   94,923   358   178,325 

  Transfer from property, plant and equipment   -    -   10,230    -   10,230 

  Disposals   (699)   -  (10,400) (55) (11,154)

  Balance at end of year   15,944   83,911   252,316   5,728   357,899 

  Accumulated amortisation       

  Balance at beginning of year   (10,243) (1,018) (55,233) (20,012) (86,506)

  Reclassifi cation between classes   - - (17,611)  (17,611)    - 

  Amortisation for the year   (2,514) (2,408) (58,943) (454) (64,319)

  Disposals   699    -   10,400   55   11,154 

  Balance at end of year   (12,058) (3,426) (121,387) (2,800) (139,671)

  Carrying value       

  At end of year   3,886   80,485   130,929   2,928   218,228 

  At beginning of year   5,661   588   81,921   5,822   93,992 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

12.  INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

       

      2011  2010  2011   2010

       % % N$’000  N$’000

          

   Shares at cost   100   100   458    458 

   Indebtedness     2,049    1,887 

         

   Shares at cost   100   100    -     - 

   Indebtedness     -     - 

          

   Shares at cost     -     - 

   Indebtedness     -     -

           2,507    2,345 

   Attributable to Mobile Telecommunications Limited      

   Aggregate profi ts / (losses) after tax     831    (319)

   

  2011   2010  2011   2010 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

 Network consumables  21,275    35,186   25,863    35,186

 Subscriber identity modules  11,664    9,828   11,664    9,828 

   73,140    90,229   73,140    90,229

 Inventory carried at net realisable value  21,167    34,989   25,883    34,989 

 The amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an expense is N$ 5,455,694 (2010: N$ 2,620,000).  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

   

  2011   2010  2011   2010 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

       

 Prepayments and deposits  17,275    16,577   17,273    16,575

 Customers to the mobile network after provisions 107,420    124,844   107,420    124,844

 Interconnect debtors  3,671    2,465   3,671    2,465 

 Other receivables  10,387    9,558   10,360    9,531 

   138,753    153,444   138,724    153,415

 Provisions for doubtful debts included in the above      

 Balance at beginning of the year  (10,234)  (10,436) (10,234)  (10,436)

 Utilised during the year  7,897    8,275   7,897    8,275

 Additionally provided  (6,221)  (8,073) (6,221)  (8,073)

 Balance at end of the year  (8,558)  (10,234) (8,558)  (10,234)

 Trade receivables are generally on 30 - 60 days terms.     

       

 Cash at bank and in hand  101,128    110,659   101,117    109,526

 Short-term bank deposits  143,887    156,689   143,887    156,689 

 Fair value of cash and cash equivalents  245,015    267,348   245,004    266,215

 Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at fl oating 

 rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Cash and 

 cash equivalents comprises cash held by the group 

 and short-term bank deposits with an original matu-

 rity of three months or less. The carrying amount of 

 these assets approximate their fair value.      

       

 Authorised and issued       

 25,000,000 ordinary shares of N$1 each  25,000    25,000   25,000    25,000 

   25,000    25,000   25,000    25,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

       

 The long term liability was incurred in respect of the MTC RAN modernisation and packet core unifi cation project. The contract 

 USD 17,696,000, associated services to the value of USD 3,699,000 and a deferred payment of USD 1,321,000.  

 This project was implemented in the prior year, going live on 1 June 2010.    

 40% of the equipment component was repaid on order acceptance on 4 November 2009. The balance of this component is repay-

 able in two equal instalments of USD 5,309,000 on 15 August 2011 and 2012 respectively.   

 The deferred payment is repayable in two equal instalments of USD 661,000 on 15 August 2011 and 2012 respectively. 

 The component relating to associated services was fully paid in the current fi nancial year.  

 The amount due on 15 August 2011 was paid, and the balance payable on 15 August 2012 has been disclosed under trade and 

 other payables at 30 September 2011.       

 No security was provided for this loan.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

   

  2011   2010  2011   2010 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

18. DEFERRED TAXATION       

 The movement on the deferred taxation 

 account is as follows:      

 

 Balance at beginning of year  279,114    245,414   279,040    245,296 

 Income statement charge  (10,802)   33,700  (10,707)   33,744 

 Adjustment  6    -   -    - 

 At end of year  268,318    279,114   268,333    279,040 

 Comprising:      

 Deferred income tax assets       

 - Income received in advance  (34,837)  (30,671) (34,837)  (30,671)

 - Unrealised forex gain  -   (370)   -   (370)

 - Provisions  160   (838)  160   (838)

 - Straightlining of leases  (843)  (220) (843)  (220)

   (35,520)  (32,099) (35,520)  (32,099)

 Deferred income tax liabilities       

 - Capital allowances  229,333    246,373   229,348    246,298

 - Inventories  67,037    59,895   67,037    59,895

 - Prepayments  5,141    4,946   5,141    4,946

 - Unrealised forex loss  2,327     -   2,327     - 

   303,838    311,213   303,853    311,139 

 Net deferred tax liability  268,318    279,114   268,333    279,040
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

   

  2011   2010  2011   2010 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

 Trade payables  85,326    102,814   85,297    102,586 

 Trade payable relating to MTC RAN 

 modernisation and packet core unifi cation project 9,790    -   9,790    - 

 Accruals  80,504    91,407   80,504    91,407 

 Other payables  2,066    1,905   2,066    1,905 

   193,092    203,870   193,063    203,642 

 

 Payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.    

 The company accumulates 13% of a staff member’s average cost to company package over fi ve years of service and pays 70% 

 and 30% of the accumulated value out to that employee after the fi fth and seventh year of service respectively, provided the 

 employee reached a performance score of 70% or higher in each of the fi ve years. As this expense is dependent upon an uncertain 

 future occurrence, the provision made refl ects only an estimate.      

 

 The retention bonus cycle repeats itself from year six.      

 The reconciliation between the opening balance and closing balance of the retention bonus is as follows:  

 Opening balance at beginning of the year  3,845    4,518   3,845    4,518 

 Paid during the year  (1,904)  (747) (1,904)  (747)

 Provision for current year  -    74   -    74 

 Closing balance at end of the year  1,941    3,845   1,941    3,845

 Non-current  1,087    3,059   1,087    3,059 

 Current  854    786   854    786 

   1,941    3,845   1,941    3,845
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

   

  2011   2010  2011   2010 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

20. DEFERRED REVENUE

 At the beginning of the year  81,783    72,800   81,783    72,800 

 Airtime sold during the year   948,192    931,908   948,192    931,908 

 Airtime utilised during the year  (940,411)   (922,925)  (940,411)   (922,925)

 At the end of the year  89,564    81,783   89,564    81,783 

 Current   89,564    81,783   89,564    81,783 

 Total   89,564    81,783   89,564    81,783 

        

  Profi t before taxation  478,860    583,758   480,026    584,182

  Adjustments for :       

  Amortisation  128,252    64,319   128,252    64,319 

  Depreciation  174,942    154,861   174,868    154,787 

  Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  915    182   915    182 

  Operating expenditure transferred from 

  work in progress  3,992  - 3,992  -

  Interest paid  5,103    1,667   5,103    1,339 

  Interest received  (13,027)   (18,772)  (13,024)   (18,766)

  Foreign exchange movement on cash and 

  cash equivalents  7,535    (15)  7,535    (15)

  Operating profi t before 

  working capital changes  786,572    786,000   787,667    786,028 

  Working capital changes   (17,157)    34,267   (16,958)    34,333 

  Decrease in inventories  17,089    195   17,089    195 

  Decrease / (increase) in trade and 

  other receivables  14,691    (23,702)  14,691    (23,997)

  Increase in deferred revenue  7,781    8,983   7,781    8,983 

  (Decrease) / increase in trade and 

  other payables  (56,718)   48,791   (56,519)   49,152 

  Cash generated by operations  769,415    820,267   770,709    820,361
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

   

  2011   2010  2011   2010 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

 21.2 Taxation paid       

  Payable at the beginning of the year  13,905    5,957   14,054    6,096 

  Taxation charged to the income statement 170,810    153,308   171,001    153,308 

  Adjustment  (6)  - -  -

  (Payable) at the end of the year  (24,226)   (13,905)  (24,566)   (14,054)

  Amounts paid  160,483    145,360   160,489    145,350 

22. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

 22.1 Capital commitments      

  Commitments in respect of capital expenditure:     

  Approved and contracted for 

  Network expansions  49,875    84,072   49,875    84,072 

  Retail stock  13,200    17,747   13,200    17,747 

  Other - property, plant and equipment  -     -  -    - 

     63,075    101,819   63,075    101,819 

  Approved and not contracted for       

  Network expansions  118,935    36,241   118,935    36,241 

  Retail stock  112,989    79,722   112,989    79,722 

  Other - property, plant and equipment  37,806    18,831   37,806    18,831 

    269,730    134,794   269,730    134,794 

  This expenditure will be fi nanced from cash generated from normal business operations.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

  22.2 Operating lease commitments - lessee       

     Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows as of 30 September:  

 

          Premises   

     2011   Radio sites  Offi ces/Shops Other  Total

        N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

     Within one year   19,194    14,266   206    33,666 

     After one year but not more than fi ve years  80,864    55,326    -    136,190 

     More than fi ve years   389,360    43,135    -    432,495 

        489,418    112,727   206    602,351 

     

     2010        

     Within one year   14,260    14,529   447    29,236 

     After one year but not more than fi ve years  52,586    58,672   175    111,433 

     More than fi ve years   29,650    46,313    -    75,963 

        96,496    119,514   622    216,632 

          

     Construction deposits        

     At 30 September 2011 the group had entered into other commitments of N$ 28,718,000 (2010: N$ 70,126,000) which relate 

     to construction deposits for work in progress for the West African Cable Solution project. The fi nal payment for the project 

     will be done in October 2012.

       

  The company operates a defi ned contribution scheme, the MTC Pension Fund (registration number 25/7/7/390), providing ben-

  efi ts based on the contributions of an employee and is administered by Alexander Forbes. This fund is registered under and gov-

  erned by the Pension Funds Act, 1956 as amended. The fund will be valued every three years. The members of the fund can elect 

  to contribute 7% or the maximum of 14 %, which will be matched by the employer by the % elected of the members’ pensionable 

  salaries. All contributions of the company are charged to the statement of comprehensive income as incurred. Employer contribu-

  tions for the year are disclosed in note 3. The fair value of the fund’s investments as at the funds’ year end at 28 February 2011 were 

  N$ 58,872,429 (2010: N$ 46,921,969).        
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  In addition to the pension fund, the company also operates a group life scheme covering 100% of the total number of employees 

  in cases of death and/ or permanent disability.       

  The group does not currently bear and is in no way contractually liable for the cost of funding post retirement medical aid benefi ts. 

  The contribution to the Medical Aid Fund should an employee choose to continue membership of the scheme on retirement, is 

  payable by the retiree.        

  A statutory actuarial valuation was performed on 28 February 2009 in which the valuator reported that the fund was in a sound 

  fi nancial position. The next statutory actuarial valuation will be performed on 29 February 2012.   

        

  The company has unsecured overdraft facilities at First National Bank Namibia totalling N$ 1 million (2010: N$ 1 million) with 

  fi nancial institutions, with a settlement facility in respect of guarantees of N$ 25 million (2010: N$ 25 million), with an additional 

  N$ 20 million in an FEC facility, of which none is utilised. The facility in respect of guarantees (pre-settlement) at First National Bank 

  of Namibia amounts to N$ 30 million (2010: N$ 30 million).

     

  The Group’s principal fi nancial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise shareholder’s loans, trade payables and a long term loan. 

  The Group has no interest bearing borrowings. The main purpose of these fi nancial liabilities is to raise fi nance for the Group’s 

  operations. The Group has various fi nancial assets such as trade receivables and cash and short-term deposits, which arise directly 

  from its operations. The main risks arising from the Group’s fi nancial instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

        

  There has been no signifi cant change during the fi nancial year, or since the end of the fi nancial year, to the types of fi nancial risks 

  faced by the Group, the approach to measurement of these fi nancial risks or the objectives, policies and processes for managing 

  these fi nancial risks.        

  The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below.

       

     Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value of future cash fl ows of a fi nancial instrument will fl uctuate because 

     of changes in foreign exchange rates.

     “The Group incurs currency risk as a result of the following transactions which are denominated in a currency other than 

     Namibia Dollar or South African Rand: purchases of equipment, consulting fees and borrowings. The currencies which pri-

     fl uctuations on the translation into USD of its foreign creditors by using foreign exchange contracts. 
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     At 30 September 2011, the Group has not hedged any (2010: 65%) of its foreign currency creditors for which fi rm com-

     mitments existed at the statement of fi nancial position date.       

     The group and the company normally pay all foreign amounts due close to order / delivery date.

     Foreign exchange losses / (gains) recognised in the statements of comprehensive income:

   

  2011   2010  2011   2010

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

     - realised   7,535   (15)  7,535   (15) 

     - unrealised   (6,844)   (1,054)  (6,844)  (1,054) 

     The total fair value of the foreign exchange forward contract liability for both the group and the company at year end was:

           2011   2010 

           N$’000   N$’000 

     To sell       -    3,891

     

     To buy      3,676    - 

     The foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding at year end were as follows:    

     2011      N$’000    

          

     To buy - US Dollar     2,649  18,331  22,007

     2011      N$’000   

          

     To sell - US Dollar     10,208  77,486  73,595 

     Open FEC’s at year end with First National Bank Namibia have a purchased cost of N$ 8,593 million (2010: N$ 61,916 million)

      and with Bank Windhoek with a purchased cost of N$ 9,738 million (2010: N$ 15,571 million)
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     The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to the below-mentioned percentage strengthening and weakening in the 

     functional currency against the relevant foreign currencies. This percentage is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign 

     currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible 

     change in foreign exchange rates.        

     The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign-denominated monetary items and adjusts their translations at the 

     period end for the specifi ed percentage change in foreign currency rates.    

     For the same percentage weakening of the functional currency against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and 

     opposite impact on the profi t before taxation.       

     There were no changes in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the foreign currency sensitivity analysis.

             

 

     Effect on profi t before tax of amounts included in 

     trade payables at year end:   2011   2010  2011   2010  

        N$’000   N$’000  N$’000   N$’000 

     USD        

     Effect on profi t before tax        

     Increase of 5% in USD exchange rate  (2,542)   (3,069)  (2,542)   (3,069)

     Decrease of 5% in USD exchange rate  2,542    3,069   2,542    3,069 

     Euro        

     Effect on profi t before tax        

     Increase of 5% in Euro exchange rate  (252)   (126)  (252)   (126)

     Decrease of 5% in Euro exchange rate  252    126   252    126 

             

     Effect on profi t before tax        

     Increase of 5% in Swiss Francs exchange rate  (56)   (85)  (56)   (85)

     Decrease of 5% in Swiss Francs exchange rate  56    85   56    85
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     At year end the following foreign currency denominated amounts were included in trade payables, for which no forward 

     cover was taken:

       2011  Conversion rate at 2010 Conversion rate at 

 

  

     United States Dollars   50,841     8.02   72,186   7.00 

     Euro   5,033    10.78   2,517   9.52 

     Swiss Francs   1,126     8.86   1,696   7.13 

     At year end the following foreign currency 

     denominated amounts were included in

     roaming debtors, for which no forward 

     cover was taken:       

     United States Dollars   9,023     8.02   10,497   7.00 

  25.2 Credit risk management        

      Credit risk is related to the risk of a third party failing with its contractual obligations resulting in a fi nancial loss to 

the Group.        

     The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade 

     on credit terms are subject to credit verifi cation procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing 

     basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not signifi cant. In addition to this reputable fi nancial institu-

     tions are used for investing and cash handling purposes. The maximum credit exposure is the carrying amount as disclosed 

     in Note 14. There are no signifi cant concentrations of credit risk within the group.    

     With respect to credit risk arising from the other fi nancial assets of the company, which comprise cash and cash equivalents 

     and short tem deposits with well known reputable Namibian banks, the company’s exposure to credit risk arises from default 

     of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these balances.   

     There has been no signifi cant change during the fi nancial year, or since the end of the fi nancial year, to the Group’s exposure 

     to credit risk, the approach to the measurement or the objectives, policies and processes for managing this risk.
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  25.2 Credit risk management

         

  2011   2010  2011   2010

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

 Cash and cash equivalents  245,015    267,348   245,004   266,215 

 Trade and other receivables - Namibia 129,730    142,947   124,210    142,918 

 Trade and other receivables - non-Namibian 9,023    10,497   14,515    10,497 

 Long term deposit  75,113    38,886   75,113    38,886 

   458,882    459,678   458,843    458,516 

 No terms of fi nancial assets were renegotiated.      

 With respect to trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired, there are no indications as of the report-

 ing date that the debtors will not meet their payment obligations.

         

  2011   2010  2011   2010

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

 Neither past due nor impaired  106,017    106,834   105,989    106,805 

 Past due but not impaired:       

 between 30 and 60 days  9,905    33,531   9,905    33,531 

 between 60 and 90 days  2,375    4,874   2,375    4,874 

 more than 90 days  20,456    8,205   20,456    8,205 

 Net carrying amount  138,753    153,444   138,724    153,415

     These risks may occur if the sources of funding, including operating cash fl ows, credit lines and cash fl ows obtained from 

     fi nancing operations, do not match with the group’s fi nancing needs, such as operating and fi nancing outfl ows, investments, 

     shareholder remuneration and debt repayments.       

      The Group has minimised its risk of illiquidity by ensuring that it has adequate banking facilities and reserve 

borrowing capacity.        

     The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using monthly management accounts and general cash fl ow projections. 
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     The table below summarises the maturity profi le of the Group’s fi nancial liabilities at 30 September based on contractual 

     undiscounted payments.
   

   2011   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

   Trade and other payables   -    192,005   -    1,087   -  

      -    192,005   -    1,087   - 

   Group

   2010   

   Long term loan at fair value   -    -    -    51,575   -  

   Trade and other payables   -    200,811   -    3,059   -  

      -    200,811   -    54,634   - 

   

   2011   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

   Trade and other payables   -    191,976   -    1,087   -  

      -    191,976   -    1,087   - 

   

   2010    

   Long term loan at fair value   -    -    -    51,575   -  

   Trade and other payables   -    200,583   -    3,059   -  

      -    200,583   -    54,634   - 

    

   The primary objective of the company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating in order to 

   support its business and maximise shareholder value.  The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, cash and cash 

   equivalents and equity.  

   The company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To main-

   tain or adjust the capital structure, the company may issue new shares or obtain additional funding from its shareholders.

   No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes during the years ended 30 September 2011 and 

   30 September 2010.  The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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  26.1 Categories of fi nancial instruments        
 
        At fair value 

       and Held for receivables amortised assets and 

  Group  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Assets       

  Non-current assets       

  Property, plant and

  equipment 9  939,733   -    -    -    -    939,733 

  Intangible assets 11  224,535   -    -    -    -    224,535 

  Long term deposit  75,113   75,113   -  -  -  -

  Current assets       

  Inventories 13  73,140   -    -    -    -    73,140 

  Trade and other receivables 14  138,753   135,077   3,676   -    -    -  

  Cash and cash equivalents 15  245,015   245,015   -    -    -    -  

  Total assets  1,696,289   455,205   3,676   -    -    1,237,408 

         

  Ordinary share capital 16  25,000   -    -    -    -    25,000 

  Retained income  1,096,089   -    -    -    -    1,096,089 

  Equity attributable to equity       

  holders of the parent  1,121,089   -    -    -    -    1,121,089 

    1,121,089   -    -    -    -    1,121,089 

  Non-current liabilities       

  Trade and other payables 19  1,087   -  -  -  1,087   -

  Deferred taxation 18  268,318   -    -    -    -    268,318 

  Current liabilities       

  Trade and other payables 19  192,005   -    -    -    192,005   -  

  Deferred revenue 20  89,564   -    -    -    -    89,564 

  Taxation payable  24,226   -    -    -    -    24,226 

  Total liabilities  575,200   -    -    -    193,092   382,108 

  Total equity and liabilities  1,696,289   -    -    -    193,092   1,503,197 
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        At fair value 

       and Held for receivables amortised assets and 

  Assets

  Non-current assets       

  Property, plant and       

  equipment 9  937,059   -    -    -    -    937,059 

  Intangible assets 11  224,535   -    -    -    -    224,535 

  Investment in subsidiaries 12  2,508   -    -    -    -    2,508 

  Long term deposit  75,113   75,113   -  -  -  -

  Current assets       

  Inventories 13  73,140   -    -    -    -    73,140 

  Trade and other receivables 14  138,724   135,048   3,676   -    -    -  

  Cash and cash equivalents 15  245,004   245,004   -    -    -    -  

  Total assets  1,696,084   455,166   3,676   -    -    1,237,242 

         

  Ordinary share capital 16  25,000   -    -    -    -    25,000 

  Retained income  1,095,557   -    -    -    -    1,095,557 

  Equity attributable to equity       

  holders of the parent  1,120,557   -    -    -    -    1,120,557 

    1,120,557   -    -    -    -    1,120,557 

  Non-current liabilities       

  Trade and other payables 19  1,087   -  -  -  1,087   -

  Deferred taxation 18  268,333   -    -    -    -    268,333 

  Current liabilities       

  Trade and other payables 19  191,976   -    -    -    191,976   -  

  Deferred revenue 20  89,564   -    -    -    -    89,564 

  Taxation payable  24,566   -    -    -    -    24,566 

  Total liabilities  575,526   -    -    -    193,063   382,463 

    1,696,083   -    -    -    193,063   1,503,020 
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        At fair value 

       and Held for receivables amortised assets and 

  Group  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Assets       

  Non-current assets       

  Property, plant and       

  equipment 9  1,022,717   -    -    -    -    1,022,717 

  Intangible assets 11  218,228   -    -    -    -    218,228 

  Long term deposit  38,886   38,886   -    -    -    -  

  Current assets       

  Inventories 13  90,229   -    -    -    -    90,229 

  Trade and other receivables 14  153,444   153,444   -    -    -    -  

  Cash and cash equivalents 15  267,348   267,348   -    -    -    -  

  Total assets  1,790,852   459,679   -    -    -    1,331,174 

         

  Ordinary share capital 16  25,000   -    -    -    -    25,000 

  Retained income  1,141,240   -    -    -    -    1,141,240 

  Equity attributable to equity       

  holders of the parent  1,166,240   -    -    -    -    1,166,240 

    1,166,240   -    -    -    -    1,166,240 

 

  Non-current liabilities       

  Long term liability 17  45,940   -  45,940   -  -    -  

  Trade and other payables 19  3,059   -  -  -  3,059   -

  Deferred taxation 18  279,114   -    -    -    -    279,114 

  Current liabilities         

  Trade and other payables 19  200,811   -    3,891   -    196,920   -  

  Deferred revenue 20  81,783   -    -    -    -    81,783 

  Taxation payable  13,905   -    -    -    -    13,905 

  Total liabilities  624,612   -    49,831   -    199,979   374,802 

    1,790,852   -    49,831   -    199,979   1,541,042
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        At fair value 

       and Held for receivables amortised assets and 

  Assets

  Non-current assets       

  Property, plant and       

  equipment 9  1,019,969   -    -    -    -   1,019,969 

  Intangible assets 11  218,228   -    -    -    -    218,228 

  Investment in subsidiaries 12  2,345   -    -    -    -    2,345 

  Long term deposit  38,886   38,886   -  -  -  -

  Current assets       

  Inventories 13  90,229   -    -    -    -    90,229 

  Trade and other receivables 14  153,415   153,415   -    -    -    -  

  Cash and cash equivalents 15  266,215   266,215   -    -    -    -  

  Total assets  1,789,287   458,516   -    -    -    1,330,771 

         

  Ordinary share capital 16  25,000   -    -    -    -    25,000 

  Retained income  1,139,828   -    -    -    -    1,139,828 

  Equity attributable to equity       

  holders of the parent  1,164,828   -    -    -    -    1,164,828 

    1,164,828   -    -    -    -    1,164,828 

  Non-current liabilities       

  Long term liability 17  45,940   -   45,940   -   -   - 

  Trade and other payables 19  3,059   -   -   -   3,059   - 

  Deferred taxation 18  279,040   -   -   -   -    279,040 

  Current liabilities       

  Trade and other payables 19  200,583   -    3,891   -    196,692   -  

  Deferred revenue 20  81,783   -    -    -    -    81,783 

  Taxation payable  14,054   -    -    -    -    14,054 

  Total liabilities  624,459   -    49,831   -    199,751   374,877 

  Total equity and liabilities  1,789,287   -    49,831   -    199,751   1,539,705



50

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

      

  26.2 Fair values

    The fair values of all fi nancial instruments are substantially the same as the carrying values refl ected in the statements of 

    fi nancial positions, for both the Group and the Company.     

         

    The group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of fi nancial instruments by valuation 

    technique:       

    Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets of liabilities.   

    Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a signifi cant effect on the recorded value are observable, either 

      directly or indirectly.       

    Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a signifi cant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observ-

     able market data.       

    Valuation techniques:       

    Cash and cash equivalents are valued at their fair value based on their carrying value in an active market.  

    Forward contracts are valued by marking to market the forward contract with the exchange rate prevalent on each day in an 

    active market.       

    Trade and other receivables are valued at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, which substantially equals 

    their fair value.       

    Trade and other payables are valued at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, which substantially equals 

    their fair value.       

    The long term liability is discounted at the effective discount rate applicable to the risks associated with this fi nancial instrument.

    As at 30 September 2011, the group held the following fi nancial instruments measured at fair value:

    

    Assets measured at fair value:      

    Trade and other receivables - FEC  3,676   3,676   -    -  

       3,676   3,676   -    -  

         

    Assets measured at fair value:      

    Trade and other receivables - FEC  3,676   3,676   -    -  

       3,676   3,676   -    - 
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    As at 30 September 2010, the group held the following fi nancial instruments measured at fair value:

    

    Liabilities measured at fair value:     

    Long term liability   45,940   -    -    45,940 

    Trade and other payables - FEC  3,891   3,891   -    -  

        49,831   3,891   -    45,940  

         

    Liabilities measured at fair value:     

    Long term liability   45,940   -    -    45,940 

    Trade and other payables - FEC  3,891   3,891   -    -  

       49,831   3,891   -    45,940  

    Reconciliation of long term liability     

    Undiscounted value   51,575   -    -    51,575 

    Fair value adjustment   (6,921)  -    -    (6,921)

    Interest   1,286   -    -    1,286  

       45,940   -    -    45,940
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  Related party relationships exist between the company and its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiary, shareholders and key management. 

  All transactions with related parties occurred under terms no less favourable than those arranged with third parties.

  27.1 Subsidiaries     

    Details of income and expenditure relating to subsidiaries and investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in notes 3 and 12 

    respectively. No interest is charged on loans to subsidiaries.   

     

    The key management personnel of the company comprise the directors and the general managers. Amounts paid to key 

    management are disclosed under directors’ emoluments and key management remuneration in note 6.  

         

    The shareholders of the company are noted in the directors’ report. The only signifi cant transactions related to the sharehold-

    ers are rentals paid and interconnect fees paid to the shareholder.  

        

    The company has an interconnect agreement with a fellow subsidiary regarding call traffi c between the two companies and 

    rent fi bre optic lines for its operations from the fellow subsidiary.



53

AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 (continued)

  

    

   

  2011   2010  2011   2010

   N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

 Balance receivable from fellow subsidiary       

 - Telecom Namibia  3,671    2,465   3,671    2,465 

 Balance payable to fellow subsidiary      

 - Nampost Courier   (538)   (784)  (538)   (784)

 - PT Investments  (40)   -   (40)   - 

 - PT Comunicacoes SA  (1,969)   -   (1,969)   - 

 - PT SI - Sistemas de Informacao SA  (1,480)   -   (1,480)   - 

 Property, plant and equipment purchased 

 from subsidiaries       

 - PT Comunicacoes, SA  -    6,162   -    6,162 

 - PT Inovacao  3,513    -   3,513    - 

 - PT SI Sistemas de Informacao  1,949    -   1,678    - 

 Management fees paid to PT Investimentos 2,250    2,384   2,250    2,384 

 Telephone and fax paid to Telecom Namibia 548    615   548    615 

 Net set rentals paid to Telecom Namibia 90,972    72,294   90,972    72,294 

 Net interconnect fees received from 

 fellow subsidiary       

 - Telecom Namibia  17,252    30,008   17,252    30,008 

 Net interconnect fees paid to fellow 

 subsidiaries       

 - PT Comunicacoes, SA  5,396    700   5,396    700 

 Interconnect debtors disclosed in Note 14, are included in the balance receivable from fellow subsidiary, Telecom Namibia.
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